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INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. This is a shareholders’ derivative action -brought by Co-Lead Plaintiffs
Amalgamated Bank As Trustee Of The LongView 400 Index Fund For Retirem-ent Trusts
(“Amalgamated Bank™) and Ryan Vazquez (collectively “Co-Lead Plaintiffs) for the benefit of
Nominal Defendant Activision, Inc. (“Activision” or the “Company”) against its Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and certain current and former execufive officers and directors of
Activision (the “Defendants™). This action arises from the Defendants obtaining, approving, or
acquiescing to the unlawful issuance of stock option grants to and for the benefit of Activision’s
executive officers, in violation of their fiduciary duties and other laws, and causing damage to
Activision. |

2.. A stock option is a right to purchase a stock for a specified period of time at a
fixed price, called the “exercise price” or “strike price.” The shares that are subject to the option |
grant are assets of the company and are generally issued from the company’s treasury. Stock
options are typically granted as part of employee compensation packages as a means to create
incentives to boost profitability and stock value. The exercise price is generally fixed to the
market price of the stock on the closing date of the grant. When a stock’s market price exceeds
its exercise price, the opti.on holder may purchase any vested option from the company at the
exercise price and resell it at the higher market price, pocketing the difference.

3. When the grant date of an option is manipulated to an earlier date on which the
stock closed at a lower price, or when thé grant date is manipulated to precede the release of
favorable company news, the grantee pays less for the stock and the company, the -counterparty
to the option graﬁt, receives less when the option is exercised. Thus, the practice of backdating
option grants to lewer prices represents a direct and continuing waste of valuable corporate

assets.

1 The “Defendants” include John T. Baker, IV, Harold A. Brown, William J. Chardavoyne,
Ronald Doomink, Lawrence Goldberg, Robert J. Dewar, Kenneth L. Henderson, Barbara S.
Isgur, Brian G. Kelly, Robert A. Kotick, Mitchell H. Lasky, Howard E. Marks, Steven T. Mayer,
Robert J. Morgado, Barry J. Plaga, Michael J. Rowe, Richard A. Steele, Kathy Vrabeck, and
Robert J. Corti (collectively “Individual Defendants” and/or “Defendants”).
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4. Manipuléting the timing of option grants undermines the incentive that is
supposed to justify stock optic.)n compensation in the first place. Stock option compensation is
intended to align the interests of managers with those of shareholde.rs by encouraging-; managers
to maximize shareholder value. In contrast, backdating option grants to correspond to low points
in the stock price allows managers to benefit from declines in the price of the stock, and
therefore creates an incentive for managers to engineer dips or volatile swings in stock price.

5. The practice of backdating grants of stock options raises the specter of false or
misleading financial reporting under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The
difference befween exercise price and market price on the day of exercise is a compensation
expense that negatively impacts a company’s eémings. Backdating option grants fherefore
creates a substantial risk that earnings data have been,-and will continue to be, misreported.
Option backdating also masks the true level of executive compensation, and thereby further -_
misleads investors.

6. From at least fiscal year 1997 through fiscal year 2003,2 Defendants Robert A.
Kotick and Brian G. Kelly, Activision’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Co-Chairman,
respectively, received a total of 11 stock option grants. In a striking pattern that could only result
from backdating, 10 out of these 11 grants have an exercise price that was the lowest price for
the 20-day period after the grant date. The additional graﬁt had an exercise price that was the

second lowest price for the 20-day period. Further, all 11 of the stock option grants were granted

during these six years at different times of the year, with the only consistency being that the grant

was at or near the lowest closing price of a given year, quarter, and/or month in which the
options were graﬁted. The top 7 of these 11 grants had 20-day returns ranging from 22.37% to
50.32%. _

7. From at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 2004, Activision issued five
grants to various executives (other than Defendants Kotick and Kelly), including Defendants

Baker, Goldberg, Plaga, Lasky, Dewar, Chardavoyne, Rowe, Steele, and Doornink. These grants

2 Activision’s fiscal year ends on March 31.
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continued the striking p-attern that can only be explained by backdating. All five grants have an
exercise price that was the lou.)est price for the 20-day period after the grant date. Further, all
five of the stock option grants were granted during these six years at different times of the year,
with the only consistency being that the grant was at or near a period.ic low or preceding a run-up
in the share price.

8. In addition to authorizing the issuance of backdated stock options, from at least
fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year 2004; Defendants committed ultra vires acts by issuing stock
options with exercise prices not set consistently with the express terms of the operative stock
option plans in effect at the time of the grant issuance. In many instances, the Defendants set the
stock options exercise prices at the lowest trading price for the day of the stock option grant (or
the day prpceeding the option grant date), in violation of the powers afforded by the shareholder
approved stock option plans.

9. From at least fiscal year 1996 through June 2006, Activision, with knowledge,
approval, and participation of each of the Defendants, disseminated false financial statements.
By engaging in this scheme, Defendants effectively concealed that Activision was not recording
material compensation expenses and was materially overstating the Company’s publicly reported
net income and earnings.

10. Since 2001, certain Defendants engaged in unlawful insider selling of Activision
securities. While in possession of material nonpublic information concerning Activision’s
backdating scheme, Defendants sold over 14.5 million shares of Activision common stock,
realizing unlawful insider trading prqceeds of over $357 million, no less than $31 million of
which was realized through the exercise and subsequent sale of illegally backdated option grants.
By contrast, Activision has suffered, and will continue to suffer, significant financial and non-
monetary damages as. a result of the.improper backdating and ultra vires issuance of stock
options.

11.  On July 12, 2006, Co-Lead Plaintiffs initiated this shareholder derivative action.
In response, on July 28, 2006, Activision announced the formation of a “Special Sub-

Committee” of the Board charged with investigating Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims. To date,
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Activision has not pubiicly rca.vealed the identities of the persons serving on the Special Sub-
Committee. Co-Lead Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Defendant Robert J. Corti and
director Richard Samoff are the only two members of the Special Spb-Committee. A.s a named
Defendant in this action and as explained in detail herein, Defendant Corti is unable fo serve
independently on the Special Sub-Committee. Further, this Sub-Committee is ineffective
because it ultimately reports to the conflicted and interested Board bf Activision.

12.  On March 8, 2007, Activision publicly announced that the Special Sub-
Committee of the Board charged with investigating Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims had “substantially
completed its investigation and reported its principal findings and recommendations to the full
Board.” The Special Sub-Committee found “inaccuracies in the determination and repbrting of
measurement dates for certain stock options granted by the [Clompany during the period
between 1994 and 2006.” This conclusion confirms Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims as alleged herein |
that the Defendants colluded in a covert scheme to grant undisclosed, “in-the-money” stock
options to themselves and others by, among other things, backdating stock option grants to
coincide with historically and relatively low closing prices of Activision’s common stock.

13.  In short, as alleged in detail herein, in gross breach of their fiduciary duties as
officers and/or directors of Activision, Defendants colluded with one another to:

(a) improperly backdate stock option grants, in violation of the
Company’s shareholder approved stock option plans;

(b) improperly issue stock options at below fair market price as
required by Activision’s shareholder approved stock option plans,
amounting to ultra vires acts beyond the scope of the authorized
and legitimate powers of the Company; .

(c) improperly record and account for the backdated stock options, in
violation of GAAP;

(d)  improperly take tax deductions based on the backdated stock
options, in violation of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(m); and

(e) produce and disseminate to Activision shareholders and the market
false financial statements and other false U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC™) filings that improperly recorded
and accounted for the backdated option grants and concealed the
improper backdating of stock options.
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14.  This acti-on, on behalf of Activision, seeks to remedy the harms caused to the
Company. Specifically, Co-Lead Plaintiffs seek to cancel unexercised backdated options, have
all of the financial gains from the recipients who exercised bacikdated options r-eturned to
Activision, and hold accountable Activision’s directors who administered and granted backdated
options.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  This Court has jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein pursuant to
the California Constitution, Article VI, Section 10, because this case is a cause not given by
statute to other trial courts, as this derivative action is brought pursuant to Section 800 of the
California Corpqrations Code to remedy Individual Defendants’ violations of law. ‘

16.  This Court has jurisdiction over each Individual Defendant named herein because
each defendant is either a corporation that conducts business in and maintains operations in this |
County, or is an individual who has sufficient minimum contacts with California so as to render
the exercise of jurisdiction by the California courts permissible under traditional notions of fair
play and substantial justice.

17.  According to Activision’s public filings, from 1996 through 2006, all meetings of
the Board were held in California. |

18. Co-Lead Plaintiffs are informed and believe that the employment agreements
between the Officer Defendants and Activision provide for consent to the exercise of jurisdiction
by the California courts.

19.  Venue is proper in this Court because one or more of the Individual Defendants
either resides in ‘or maintains executive offices in this County, a substantial portion of the
transactions and’ wrongs complained of herein, including the Individual Defendants’ primary
participation in the wrongful acts detailed herein, occurred in this County, and Individual
Defendants have received substantial compensation in this County by doing business here and
engaging in numerous activities that had an effect in this County.

111
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_ PARTIES
20. Co-Lead Plaintiff Amalgamated Bank As Trustee Of The LongView 400 Index

Fund For Retirement Trusts (“Amalgamated Bank™) is an investment fund based in £he state of
New York and currently owns approximately 99,100 shares of Activision common stock.
Amalgamated Bank was founded in 1923 and is the only fully union-owned U.S. Bank still in
operation, with total assets over $4.0 billion. .

21.  Co-Lead Plaintiff Ryan Vazquez is a citizen of Norman, Oklahoma and currently
owns approximately 248 shares of Activision common stock.

22.  Nominal Defendant Activision, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal
exécutive offices and place of business ldcated at 3100 Ocean Park Boulevard, Santa Monica,
California 90405. At all relevant times hereto, Activision-has had more than 500 shareholders of
record.

23.  Activision purports to be a leading publisher of entertainment software products,
such as video games that operate on various hand-held devices and computer platforms
including: the Sony Playstation 2 and 3 computer entertainment system consoles; the Microsoft
Xbox and Xbox 360 video game systems; and the Nintendo Wii, GameCube and Game Boy
Advance systems.

Officer Defendants And Management Director Defendants

24.  (a) Defendant Robert A. Kotick (“Kotick™) is the CEO and Chairman of the

Board of Directors of Activision. Kotick has been a director of the Company since February
1991 and has served as CEO and Chairman since that time.

(bj From at least fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of

Defendant Kotick’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,

Defendant Kotick’s average annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation was

$7,491,694, or 2,216% greater than his average total cash compensation of $338,077. Indeed,

Defendant Kotick was granted a total of at least 3,355,974 stock options between fiscal year

1997 and fiscal year 2003. Duﬁng this same time period, Defendant Kotick earned in cash salary

a maximum of $495,000 annually.
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© As an eyfecutive and member of the Board of Directors, Defendant Kotick
authorized, approved and received backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.

25.  (a) Defendant Brian G. Kelly (“Kelly™) is the CoTChairman of Activision and
has been a director of the Company since .July 1995. Kelly has served as Co-Chairman since
October 1998. Kelly has also held the following positions with the Company: (i) President (July
1997-October 1998); (ii) Chief Operating Officer (“CO0O”) (July 1995-October 1998); (iii) Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”) (February 1991-July 1997); and (iv) Secretary (May 1991-October
1997). Defendant Kelly is a certified public accountant.

(b)  From at least fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of
Defendant Kelly’s -compensation came from stock option grants. During this time- period,
Defendant. Kelly’s average annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation was
$8,364,197, or 2,500% greater than his average total cash compensation of $334,584. Indeed, |
Defendant Kelly was granted a total of at least 3,867,974 stock options between fiscal year 1997
and fiscal year 2003. During this same time period, Defendant Kelly eamned in cash salary a
maximum of $495,000 annually.

(©) As an executive and member of the Board of Directors, Defendant Kelly
authorized, approved and received backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.

26. (a) Defendant Ronald Doornink (“Doornink™) is Senior Advisor of the
Company and has served as a director since April 2003. Doomnink has also held the following
positions with the Company: (i) President and COO (October 1998-June 2005); (ii) Chairman of
Activision Publishing, Inc., the Company’s only direct operating subsidiary and the holding
company for all 6ther Activision subsidiaries (June 15, 2005-present); and (iii) President and
CEO of Activision-Publishing, Inc. O\/Iz?rch 28, 2002-June 14, 2005).

(b) From at least fiscal year 1999 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of
Defendant Ijoornink’s-compensation came from stock option grants. - During this time period,
Defendant Doornink’s average annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation
was $8,248,001, or 1,742% greater than his average total cash compensation of $473,358.

Indeed, Defendant Doornink was granted a total of at least 1,435,481 stock options between
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fiscal year 2000 and ﬁséal year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant Doornink earned
in cash salary a maximum of $467,500 annually and received annual cash bonuses no larger than
$385,056. '
(c) As an executive and member of the Board of Directors, Defendant
Doornink authorized, approved and received backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.
27. (a) Defendant Michael J. Rowe (“Rowe”™) sérved as the Executive Vice
President of Human Resources from August 1999 until March 31, 2007.
(b)  From at least fiscal year 2003 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk -of
Defendant Rowe’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,
Defendant Rowg’s average annual potential realizable value in stock option compensafion was
$713,672,.0r 156% greater than his average total cash- compensation of $473,358. Indeed,
Defendant Rowe was granted a total of at least 156,730 stock options between fiscal year 2003 |
and fiscal year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant Rowe earned in cash salary a
maximum of $305,000 annually and received annual cash bonuses no larger than $190,061.
(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Rowe received backdated stock option
grants at issue in this case.
28.  (a) Defendant William J. Chardavoyne (“Chardavoyne™) was Executive
Vice President and CFO from January 2000 to December 2005. Defendant Chardavoyne is a
certified public accountant.

(b)  From at least fiscal year 2002 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of |

Defendant Chardavoyne’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time

period, Defendant Chardavoyne’s average annual potential realizable value in stock option
compensation was-$2,.364,630, or 477% greater than his average total cash compensation of
$495,346. Indeed, Defendant Chardavoyne was granted a total of at least 185,983 stock options
between fiscal year 2000 and fiscal year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant
Chardavoyne earned in cash-salary a maximum of $345,000 annually and received annual cash
bonuses no larger than $226,372.
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(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Chardavoyne received backdated stock
option grants at issue in this case.

29. (a) Defendant Richard A. Steele (“Steele”) was an officer of :Activision,
serving as President of Activision Distribution from March 2002 until at least 2005. Defendant
Steele also held the follo.wing positions with the Company: (i) Executive Vice President of
International Distribution (June 1999-at least 2005); and (i1) Manéging Director of Activision’s
European Distribution Operations (November 1997-June 1999).

(b) From at least fiscal year 2002 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk -of
Defendant Steele’s compensation came from stock option grants. For example, in fiscal year
2002, Defendant Steele’s annual potential realizable value in stock option compensafion was
$5,366,879, or 1,010% greater than his total cash compensation $531,500. Indeed, Defendant
Steele was granted a total of at least 280,359 stock options between fiscal year 2002 and fiscal |
year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant Steele earned in cash salary a maximum of
$330,727 annually and received annual cash bonuses no larger than $439,750.

(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Steele recéived backdated stock option
grants at issue in this case.

30. (3 Defendant Kathy Vrabeck (“Vrabeck”) was an officer of Activision,
serving as President of the Activision Publishing division from November 2003 until at least
2005. Defendant Vrabeck has also held the following positions with the Company: (i) Executive
Vice President of Global Publishing and Brand Management (September 2000-November 2003);
and (i) Executive Vice President of Global Brand Management (August 1999-August 2000).

(b) From at least fiscal year 2001 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of
Defendant Vrabeck’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,
Defendant Vrabeck’s a;)erage annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation
was $4,432,d79, or 899% greater than her average total cash compensation of $493,220. Indeed,
Defendant Vrabeck was granted a total of at least 260,231 stock options between fiscal year 2001
and fiscal year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant Vrabeck earned in cash salary a

maximum of $420,833 annually and received annual cash bonuses no larger than $376,700.
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(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Vrabeck received backdated stock option
grants at issue in this case.

3. (@ Defendant Lawrence Goldberg (“Goldberg”) was an ‘ofﬁcer of
Activision, serving as Executive Vice President of Worldwide Studios from October 2000
through March 2004. Defendant Goldberg also held the following positions at the Company: 6]
General Counsel (August 1994-March 2000); (ii) Secretary (Oc';tober 1997-April 2000); (iii)
Senior Vice President of Business Affairs (July 1997-June 1999); and (iv) Vice President of
Business Affairs (August 1994-July 1997).

(b) From at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 2004, the bulk of
Defendant Goldberg’s compensation came from stock option grants. During fiscal yéar 1998
through fiscal year 1999, Defendant Goldberg’s average annual potential realizable value in
stock option compensation was $1,273,778, or 670% greater than his average total cash |
compensation of $190,243. During fiscal year 2001 through fiscal year 2004, Defendant
Goldberg’s average potential realizable value in stock option compensation was $3,196,306, or
714% greater than his average total cash compensation of $447,488. (Defendant Goldberg’s
potential realizable value in stock option compernsation was not reported in fiscal year 2000.)
Indeed, Defendant Goldberg was granted a total of at least 572,044 stock options between fiscal
year 1998 and fiscal year 2004. During this same time period, Defendant Goldberg earned in
cash salary a maximum of $400,000 annually and received annual cash bonuses of no more than
$180,000.

(c). As alleged herein, Defendant Goldberg received backdated 'stock option
grants at issue in this case.

32. (a)° Defendant Robert J. Dewar (“Dewar”) was an officer of Activision,
serving as Executive Vice President of International Publishing from June 1999 through May
2000. Defer;dant Dewar also held the following positions with the Company: (i) Senior Vice
President of International Publishing (July 1997-June 1999); and (ii) Managing Director of the
Company’s European Operations (October 1996-July 1997). -
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(b) F.rom at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 2000, the bulk of
Defendant Dewar’s compensation came from stock option grants. In fiscal year 2000, Defendant
Dewar’s potential realizable value in stock option compensation. was $2,306,974,- or 923%
greater than his total cash compensation of $250,000. Indeed, Defendant Dewar was granted a
total of at least 117,428 stock option grants during fiscal year 2000. Defendant Dewar earned in
cash salary a maximum of $250,000 annually. .

©) As alleged herein, Defendant Dewar received backdated stock option
grants at issue in this case.

33.  (a) Defendant Mitchell H. Lasky (“Lasky”) was an officer of Activision,
serving as Execptive Vice President of Worldwide Studios from June 1999 through Juﬁe 2000.
Defendant. Lasky also held the followiﬁg positions with the Company: (i) Senior Vice President
of Studios (July 1997-June 1999); and (ii) Vice President of Business Development (April 1996- |
July 1997).

(b) From at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 2000, the bulk of
Defendant Lasky’s compensation came from stock option grants. In fiscal Year 2000, Defendant
Lasky’s annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation was $3,198,000, or
1,230% greater than his total cash compensation of $260,000. Indeed, Defendant Lasky was
granted a total of at least 459,968 stock options during fiscal year 2000. Defendant Lasky earned
in cash salary a maximum of $260,0Q0 annually.

(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Lasky received backdated stock option
grants at issue in this case.

34. (a)‘ Defendant Barry J. Plaga (“Plaga”) was an officer of Activision, serving
as Executive Vice President from June. 1999 to December 1999. Defendant Plaga also held the
following positions with the Company: ‘(i) CFO (July 1997-December 1999); (ii) Senior Vice
President (Ju.ly 1997-June 1999); and (jii) Vice President of Finance (February 1991-July 1997).
Defendant Plaga is a certified public accountant.

(b) From at least fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year 1999, the bulk of

Defendant Plaga’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,
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Defendant Plaga’s aver.age am_lual potential realizable value in stock option compensation was
$653,427, or 442% greater than his average total cash compensation of $147,926. Indeed,
Defendant Plaga was granted a total of at least 150,282 stock options between ﬁscal-year 1996
and fiscal year 1999. Dﬁring this same time period, Defendant Plaga earned in cash salary a
maximum of $185,000 annually and received annual cash bonuses no larger than $15,000.

(c) As alleged herein, Defendant Plaga received.backdated stock option grants
at issue in this case.

35. | (a) Defendant John T. Baker, IV' (“Baker”) was an officer of Activision,
serving as the Senior Vice President of Corporate Development from July 1997 through March
1999. Defendant Baker previously served as Vice President of Operations, Adrxﬁnistraﬁon, and
Planning from October 1995 to July 1997.

(b)  From at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 1999, the bulk of |
Defendant Baker’s compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,
Defendant Baker’s gverage annual potential realizable value in stock option compensation was |
$1,116,165, or 602% greater than his average total cash compensation of $185,369. Indeed,
Defendant Baker was granted a total of at least 141,062 stock options between fiscal year 1998
and fiscal year 1999. During this same time period, Defendant Baker earned in cash salary a
maximum of $195,246 annually and received annual cash bonuses of no more than $15,000.

© As alleged herein, Defendant Baker received backdated stock option

grants at issue in this case.

36.  (a) Defendant Howard E. Marks (“Marks”) was an officer of Activision,
serving as Executive Vice President of the Company from July 1993 to July 1997. Defendant
Marks also held the fo-llowing positiens with the Company: (i) Executive Vice President of
Activision Studios (the development and production division) (July 1993-July 1997); (ii)
Director of the Company (F;bruary 1991-July 1997)-; aﬁd (iii) Senior Vice President-Managing
Director of the Company’s European Operations (February‘1991—July 1993).
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(b) Ffom at_ least fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year 1997, the bulk of
Defendant Marks® compensation came from stock option grants. During this time period,
Defendant Marks® average annual potential realizable value in stoc_k option compen.sation was
$1,050,247, or 624% gre'ater than his average total cash compensation of $168,238. Indeed,
Defendant Marks was granted a total of at least 79,021 stock options between fiscal year 1996
and fiscal year 1997. During this same time period, Defendant Marks earned in cash salary a
maximum of $176,475 annually.
(©) As an executive and member of the Board of Directors, Defendant Marks
authorized, approved and received backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.
37. Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink, Rowe, Chardavoyne, Steele, Vrabeck,
Goldberg, .Dewar, Lasky, Plaga, Baker, and Marks are eollectively referred to in this Second
Amended Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint (“Complaint™) as the “Officer |

Defendants.” Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink, and Marks, along with the Non-Management

| Director Defendants below, are also referred to as “Director Defendants.”

Non-Management Director Defendants

Current Non-Management Director Defendants

38.  Defendant Barbara S. Isgur (“Isgur”) has been a director of Activision since
February 1991. Isgur is currently a member of the Audit and Compensation Committees. Isgur
has been a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee since at least
fiscal year 1995. As a .member of the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee,
Defendant Isgur authorized and approved the backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.

39. Défendant Robert J. Morgado (“Morgado™) has been a director of the Company
since February 1997 and serves as Chairman of the Compensation Committee and the
Nominating and Corpofate Governance Committee, and as a member of the Audit Committee;
Morgado has been a member of the Compensation Committee since June 1998, a niember of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee since July 2002, and a member of the Audit
Committee since June 2004. As a member of the Board of Directors and the Compensation

111
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Committee, Defendant Morgado authorized and approved the backdated stock option grants at
issue in this case.

40. Defendant Robert J. Corti (“Corti”) has served as a Eiirector of Activiéion and as
Chairperson of the Audit Committee since December 2003. Defendant Corti is a certified public
accountant.

Former Non-Ma.nagement Director Defeﬁdants

41.  Defendant Steven T. Mayer (“Mayer”) served as a director of the Company from
February 1991 to December 2003. Mayer was a member of both the Audit and Compensation
Committees from at least fiscal year 1995 to December 2003. As a member of the Board of
Directors and the Compensation Committee, Defendant Mayer authorized and apprdved the
backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.

42.  Defendant Harold A. Brown (“Brown”) was a director of Activision from |

| November 1996 to July 2001. From June 1998 to July 2001, Defendant Brown was a member of

the Audit Committee. As a member of the Board of Directors, Defendant Brown authorized and |
approved the backdated stock option grants at issue in this case.

43.  Defendant Kenneth L. Henderson (“Henderson”) served as director of the
Company from July 2001 to September 2005. Henderson served as a member of the Audit
Committee from July 2001 to June 2004. Henderson was a member of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee from July 2002 to September 2005. As a member of the
Board of Directors, Defendant Henderson authorized and approved the backdated stock option |
grants at issue in this case.

44, De‘fendants Isgur, Morgado, Mayer, Brown, Corti, and Henderson are collectively
referred to in this Cpmplaint as the “Non-Management Director Defendants.” The Non-
Management Director Defendants, along with Kotick, Kelly, Doomink, and Marks are
collectively referred to as “Director Defendants.”

/11
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11

SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT -14-




W N

~1 O W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

po/00/2007 0841 FIRST LEGA)L SUPPORT FAX (213) 250-1187

DUTIES OF THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS

45. By reason of their positioné as officers and/or directors of Activision and because
of their ability to control the business and corporate affairs of the Company, the -Individual
Defendants owed Activision and its shareholders the fiduciary obligations of good faith, trust,
loyalty, and due care, and were and are required to use their utmost ability to control and manage
the Company in a fair, just, honest, and equitable manner. The Iﬁdividual Defendants were and
are required to act in furtherance of the best interests of Activision and its shareholders so as to
benefit all shareholders equally and not in furtherance of their personal interest or benefit. Each
Individual Defendant owes the Company and its shareholders the fiduciary duty to exercise good
faith and diligence in the administration of the affairs of the Company and in the ﬁse and
preservatien of its property and assets, and the highest obligations of fair dealing.

46.  The Individual Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority as |.
directors and/or officers of the Company, were able to and did, directly and/or indirectly,
exercise control over the wrongful acts complained of herein.

47.  To discharge their duties, the Individual Defendants were required to exercise
reasonable and prudent supervision over the management, policies, practices and controls of
Activision. By virtue of such duties, the Individual Defendants were required to, among other
things: (i) exercise good faith in ensuring that the Company was operated in a diligent, honest
and prudent manner and complied with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, regulations
and requirements; including acting only within the scope of its legal authority; and (ii) refrain
from unduly benefiting themselves and other Company insiders at the expense of Activision.

48. The Individual Defendants, particularly the Officer Defendants, and the members
of the Audit Committee, were responsible for maintaining and establiéhing adequate internal
accounting controls for the Company and to ensure that Activision’s financial statements were
based on acc;urate financial information. According to GAAP, to éccomplish the objectives of |-
accurately recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting financial data, a corporation must
establish an internal accounting control structure. Among. other things, the Individual

Defendants were required te:
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€)) ﬁake and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the issuer; and .

(2) devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurances that:
(a) transactions are executed in accérdance with management’s

general or specific authorization; and
(b)  transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation -of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP.
ACtiViSiQH’S' Audit Committee Charter provides that the Audit Committee shall; among
other things:

(D monitor the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control |
system;

(2)  review and, approve all related party transactions involving the Company
and any director, executive officer or family member; and

(3)  review the financial statements and any reports contained in the annual
report or other financial information submitted to any governmental body,
or the public, including the Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
with management and the independent auditors to determine whether the
independent auditors® are satisfied with the disclosure and content of such
documents, and participate in quarterly and annual review and certification

of periodic reports.

FAC_TUAL ALLEGATIONS

49.  The Officer Defendants received grants of stock options from the Company on
unusually favorable dates from at least fiscal year 1997 through fiscal year 2004. These stock
option grants preceded favorable news, were at or near periodic lows, or were before a
substantial dip in the stock price followed by a substantial run-up. Analysis of this pattern of

stock option grants reveals that the pattern could not have resulted innocently. Rather, the most
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likely explanation is tﬁat the dates of these stock option grants were, in fact, manipulated to
allow the options’ recipients to enjoy the largest possible returns at the expense of Activision.

50.  But for the extreme gross negligence, recklessness, or knowing compli'city of the
Director Defendants, and in particular the members of the Compensation and Audit Committees,
the backdating of stock option grants to the Officer Defendants could not, and would not have
occurred. Only the abdication of their duties can explain the direétors’ year-after-year approval
of backdated stock options to executives on highly disadvantageous terms for the Company.

Backdating Revealed At‘Actvivision

51.  Option grants to Activision executives in the mid-1990s and the early part of this
decade were granted at or near temporary lows, or preceded a run-up in share price. As sﬁch, the
grants were made at different points throughout the year. These facts, among others set forth
below, -indicate that the executives obtained their grants either through backdating or other |
improper means. '

52.  According to a Janco Partners, Inc. research report entitled “ATVI Potential Risk:
Backdating Options” (the “Janco Report”), a statistical analysis of Activision’s history of stock
option grants could be “viewed as suspiciously opportunistic by regulatory authorities,” given
that “several grants to executives were fully vested on the date of issue at the lowest share bid
price providing some immediate and significant financial upside” to the executives. For

example:

[Oln May 19, 1997 . . . Robert Kotick and Brian Kelly were each granted
125,000 options at the low share bid price of $9.88 (stock closed the day at
$10.25). Seven days prior to the May 19" option grant the shares had closed at
$14.13 ... and seven days after the $9.88 low bid strike price the shares closed at
$13.50 . . . Mr. Kelly received an addition [sic] 512,000 options on May 9™
priced equal to the low bid share price of $9.88 and were vested in full on such
date. The low bid strike price of $9.88 marked the lowest share trading price for
... 1997.

53.  As of the end of the Company’s 2006 fiscal year (ended March 31, 2006),
Activision executives amasséd over $193.9 million in compensation from unexercised Activision
stock options. Tellingly, executive stock option based compensgition at Activision dwarfs cash

salary and bonus compensation, pointing to an incentive to backdate options. For example, in
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2005, Defendant Kotick, the C_ompany’s CEO and Chairman of its Board of Directors, received
$501,912 in total cash compensation. But, when profits from exercising stock options are
added, Defendant Kotick’s 2005 income balloons to $48.8 million. -

54. On July 1.8, 2006, Activision announced the commencement of this derivative
lawsuit by Co-Lead Plaintiff Ryan Vazquez. Activision stated that it expects that defense
expenses associated with the matter will be covered by its direcfors’ and officers’ insurance,
subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable policies.

55.  On July 28, 2006, Activision announced it received a letter of informal inquiry
from the SEC requesting certain documents and information relating to the Company’s stock
option grant practices. Activision claimed it intended to cooperate fully and respond to the
SEC’s inquiry. Activision further announced that its Board appointed a Special Sub-Committee
of allegedly independent directors of the Board to conduct an internal review, assisted by outside. |
legal counsel, of historical stock option grant practices. Activision, however, has yet to publicly
disclose the identities of the members of this Sub-Committee, which has conducted its purported
investigation in secret. The Sub-Committee has ignored Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ request to meet and
Activision has refused to produce copies of documents allegedly reviewed by the Sub-
Committee as part of its investigation.

56.  On September 14, 2006, the Company announced that its Board had approved
amendments to the Company’s: (1) 1991 Stock Option and Stock Award Plan; (2) 1998
Incentive Plan; (3) 1999 Incentive Plan; (4) 2001 Incentive Plan; (5) 2002 Incentive Plan; (6)
2002 Executive Incentive Plan; (7) 2002 Studio Employee Retention Incentive Plan; (8) Third
Amended and Restated 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and (9) Amended and Restated
2003 Incentive Plan, (collectively the _“Plans”). Activision claimed that the amendments were
designed to remove the potential for certain corporate transactions to be characterized as
modiﬁcation.s of equity awards, requiring the Company to record incremental compensation
expense.

57. On October 25, 2006, Activision announced that, “in the course of furnishing

information to the sub-committee, the company determined that it appears likely that actual
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measurement dates for-certair} historical stock option grants will be found to differ from the
recorded grant dates for such awards. As a result, it is possible that Activision will be required to
record additional non-cash stock-based compensation expense related to stock option g-rants.”

58.  The Compény also announced on October 25, 2006 that, “[blased on the current
status of the sub-committee’s review, Activision does not expect that it will be in a position to
file its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Sebtember 30, 2006 in a timely
manner. In that event, the company would not be in compliance with the requirements of the
Nasdaq Global Select Market for continued listing of its shares on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market.” Activision also stated that it believed the increase in its third quarter and full year net
revenue outlook would be offset, in part, by higher legal expenses relating primaﬂiy to its
internal review of historical stock option practices, including expenses relating to the previously
announced informal SEC inquiry and derivative litigation.

59. On November 14, 2006, Activision received a Nasdaq Staff Determination Letter
indicating that, as a result of the Company’s inability to timely file the Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, the Company is not in compliance with the filing requirements for
continued listing of the Company’s securities set forth in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14),
and that the Company’s common stock is therefore subject to delisting from the Nasdaq Global
Select Market.

60. On December 29, 2006, Activision announced, “[a]lthough the sub-committee’s

 review is not complete, the Company has” determined that it appears that actual measurement

dates for certain historical stock option grants will be found to differ from the recorded grant
dates for such awards. While such options had an exercise price that was equal to the fair market
value of the Company’s stock on the originally used grant date, the exercise price may be less
than the fair market value of the stock on the redetermined measurement date.”

6. On January 23, 2007, Activision announced,

On January 23, 2007, the Subcommittee, with the assistance of its counsel,

reported to the Board on the status of its review of the Company’s historical stock

option grants over a fifteen year period from the Company’s 1992 fiscal year until

its 2006 fiscal year. The Subcommittee reported that it has identified a number
of instances in which the actual measurement dates for certain stock option
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grants made during that period differ from the recorded grant dates for such
awards. :

Based on the information provided by the Subcommittee, the Company believes it
will have to record additional non-cash stock-based compensation expense over
the period from the Company’s 1992 fiscal year through its current fiscal year.
Until the Subcommittee’s review has been finalized, the Company cannot
determine the aggregate amount of the additional non-cash compensation expense
it will be required to record or the additional expense to be recorded in any
particular fiscal period during that period of time. Until the amount of such
adjustments has been determined, the Company cannot ascertain the resulting tax
and accounting impacts. However, the Company believes that it is more likely
than not that the amount of such additional expense relating to one or more fiscal
periods from the period of review will be material and, therefore, the Company
expects to restate previously issued financial statements relating to such periods.

Accordingly, on January 23, 2007, the audit committee of the Board, after
consultation with the Company’s management, determined that the Company’s
financial statements for those periods, as well as earnings releases and similar
commutriications, relating to fiscal periods commencing with the first period
under review by the Subcommittee should no longer be relied upon. (Emphasis
added.)

62.  On February 9, 2007, Activision announced that, “the Company is delaying the |
filing of the Form 10-Q until the Subcommittee has completed its review and the Company can
conclude what impact its historical stock option grant practices will have on the Company’s 7
financial statements for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 and what impact the result of the
review of such practices will have on the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting or
management’s evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures.”

63. On March 8, 2007, Activision announced that the Special Sub-Committee had
substantially completed its investiéation and reported its findings to the full Board which
included, “[t]he special sub-committee found inaccuracies in the determination and reporting of
measurement dates for certain stock options granted by the company during the period between
1994 and 2006.” Activision further admitted:

(a) Activision employees, including certain officers, “bore significant
responsibility, in varying degrees, with respect to the measurement date
inaccuracies” identified by the Board’s Special Sub-Committee;

(b) “The Special Sub-Commiftee recommended that ten current and
former officers and directors should relinquish the economic benefits resulting

from the misdating and mispricing of stock options;”

(© Activision is considering whether to “enhance its corporate
governance practices by establishing the position of principal compliance officer”
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and “reconfigure the compensation committee of the Board” as part of its
corporate governance reforms; and

(d) Activision is continuing to review and analyze the “potential tax
implications and any impact” of the matters identified by the Special Sub-
Committee.

64.  On May 3, 2007, Activision announced that it was continuing to work toward the
final completion of its review of historical stock option grants an(i the associated restatement of
past financial statements. The Company stated that “it expects to record additional non-cash
charges for stock-based compensation expenses in prior periods totaling approximatély
$67 million before taxes from stock option grants over a 13 fiscal year period from 1994 -

2006.” (Emphasis added.)
65 On May 25, 2007, the Company amended its Form 10-K for fiscal year ended

March 31, 2006, which was filed with the SEC on June 9, 2006, to restate the Company’s |-
financial statements as of and for the ﬁsca} years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the
related disclosures (the “Amendfnent”). The Amendment also i];lcluded the restatement of the
Company’s selected financial data as of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005,
2004, 2003 and 2002. The restatement adjustments extend to periods from the fiscal year ended
March 31, 1994 through the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006. |

66.  According to the Amendment:

The restatement reflects the findings of a special subcommittee of
independent members of our Board of Directors, which was established in
July 2006 to review our historical stock option granting practices (the
“Special Subcommittee™). The Special Subcommittee conducted its
investigation with the assistance of Munger Tolles & Olson LLP as its
independent counsel and Deloitte & Touche USA LLP (“Deloitte”) as
forensic . accounting experts retained by counsel. The Special
Subcommittee found that 3,450 of the option grants reviewed, covering
© 148,747,202 shares, required measurement date corrections. As aresult,
we recorded approximately $66.7 million in additional pre-tax ($45.4
million after-tax) non-cash stock-based compensation expense over the
thirteen year period from April 1, 1993 through March 31, 2006 in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“APB No. 25”), and $0.6
million in additional pre-tax non-cash stock-based compensation expense
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during the quarter ended June 30, 2006 in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment”. More than 80%, or $55.4 million of the $66.7 million, relates
to periods through March 31, 2003 and 4% or $2.6 million of the non-cash
pre-tax expense relates to the most recent fiscal year covered by this
report. Separately, the restatement reflects an additional $1.7 million pre-
tax charge ($1.1 million after-tax) related to recently identified insufficient
payroll tax withholdings in fiscal 2005. (Emphasis added.)
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Of the 4,849 option grants covering 204,230,604 shares reviewed, the Special

Subcommittee found that 3,450 grants covering 148,747,202 shares required measurement date

corrections. Further, the Special Subcommittee found:

68.

A majority of the grants requiring measurement date corrections
(measured by number of shares) occurred on 16 dates over the 15-year
period. The need for these measurement date corrections arose from
failure to understand and apply the correct accounting rules, failure to
establish and maintain adequate procedures and controls, failure on certain
occasions to appreciate the implications of available information, and
insufficient finality and documentation. As a result, the exercise prices
for certain options were affected by selection of grant dates with
hindsight, which led to errors in the determination of measurement
dates, and we did not correctly account for modifications and repricings
after initial grant dates. ’

The Special Subcommittee found that four individuals — former heads of
human resources, finance and legal, and a senior partner of our former
outside corporate law firm who sat on and acted as secretary to our Board
- bore significant responsibility, in varying degrees, for measurement date
inaccuracies by virtue of their positions and/or involvement in the option
granting process at varying times. (Emphasis added.)

On June 14, 2007, the Company announced in its Form 10-K that the

formal investigation is still pending. Specifically, the Company announced:

Although the special subcommittee of independent members of our Board
of Directors established in July 2006 to review our historical stock option
granting practices (the “Special Subcommittee) has completed its review
of those practices and our stock option grants made in the period between

- 1992 and 2006, a formal investigation by the SEC relating to our stock

option granting practices remains pending, as does derivative litigation
against us and certain of our current and former directors and officers.
Although we believe that we have taken appropriate action by restating
our financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, as filed
in our Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K/A on May 25, 2007, and
made appropriate disclosures for matters relating to stock options, the SEC

SEC’s
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(or the court in the derivative actions) may disagree with the findings of
the Special Subcommittee or with the manner in which we have accounted
for and reported, or not reported, the financial impact of past option grant
measurement date errors. If so, we may need to further restate our prior
financial statements, further amend our filings with the SEC, or take
other actions not currently contemplated. In addition, these proceedings
are likely to result in additional legal expense that may affect our results in
future periods, and may also result in diversion of management attention
and other resources, as well as fines, penalties, damages and other
sanctions. These eventualities could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations. We cannot currently predict the
ultimate outcome of these proceedings. (Emphasis added.)

The Stock Option Plans

The 1991 Plan

69. Al étock option grants to the Officer Defendants during the Company’s 1996,
1997, and 1998 fiscal years were issued pursuant to Acﬁvision’s 1991 Stock Option and Stock |
Award Plan, as periodically amended (thé “1991 Plan”). According to the 1991 Plan, all final |
decisions regarding the grant of options pursuant to the 1991 Plan were supposed to be made by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

70.  Under the 1991 Plan, the Compensation Committee; determined the recipients, the
amount, and the exercise price of the options g.ranted. The express terms of the 1991 Plan
provided that the exercise price could not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock
on the grant date. The 1991 Plan defines “fair market value” as the closing price of one share of
Activision stock on the trading da§; immediately preceding the date on which the grant was
made. In 2002, the amended 1991 Plan de.ﬁned the “Fair Market Value” of “a share of Stock as
of a specified date shall be determined in good faith by the Committee in its sole ciiscretion. In
no case shall Fair Market Value be less than the par value of a share of Stock.”

The 1998 Plari .

71. _ On June 1, 1998, Activision’s Board of Directors adopted the 1998 Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “1998 Plan”). As with the 1991 Plan, all final decisions regarding the
grant of options pursuant t&) the 1998 Plan were supposed to be made by the Compensation
Cofnmittee, which was supposed to determine the recipients, the amount, and the exercise price

of the options granted. The exercise price was to be determined in the same manner as in the

SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT -23-




O 0 NN Y W B

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

DO/00/2007 08:41 FIRST LEGA! SUPPORT FAX (213)250-1197

1991 Plan. _

72.  In fiscal year 1999 (ended March 31, 1999), the Compensation Committee was
comprised of Defendants Isgur, Mayer, and Morgado. ) .

73.  Under the 1998 Plan, non-employee directors, including Defendants Isgur, Mayer,
and Morgado, became eligible to receive stock option grants and other “incentive awards,”
sibject to Board approval. Previously, under the 1991 Plan, ﬁon-employee directors were
excluded from receiving stock option grants. The 1998 Plan also authorized new types of
incentive awards, including “reload options” (allowing the grantee to potentially double an
option grant at the time of exercise) and “share purchase awards” (authorizing the Company to
make no-interest loans to enable grantees to purchase shares, which loans could be subséquently
forgiven in the Compensation Committee’s sole discretion).

74.  Under the 1998 Plan, the Compensation Committee was supposed to determine |
the recipients, the ‘amount, and the exercise price of the options granted. According to the the
express terms of the 1998 Plan, the exercise price could not be less than 100% of the fair market
value of the stock on the grant date. The 1998 Plan defines “faii market value” as the closing
price of one share of Activision stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date on
which the grant was made.

The 1999, 2001, And 2002 Plans

75.  Between 1999 and 2003, as relevant here, the Company adopted the 1999
Incentive Plan, as amended (the “1999 Plah”); the 2001 Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2001
Plan”); the 2002 Executive Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2002 Plan”); and the 2002
Employee Stock f’urchase Plan (the “2002 ESP Plan”). The Board’s Compensation Committee
is supposed to be responsible for administering each Plan.

76.  Under the 1999 Plan, the exercise price could not be less than 100% of the fair
market value' of the stock on the grant date. The 1999 Plan defines “fair market value” as the
closing price of one share of Activision stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date
on which the grant was made.

77.  Under the 2001 Plan, the exercise price could not be less than 100% of the “fair
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market value,” which Wés defined as the average of the high and low price of the shares for the
trading day preceding the date of the grant.

78.  Under the 2002 Plan, the exercise price was suppose(-i to be determinea in “good
faith” by the Compensation Committee at “fair market value,” which could not be less than the
par value of a share when granted. The 2002 Plan modified the aforementioned practice in
stating, “[a]n option shall be considereq granted on the date the Committee acts to grant the

option or such later date as the Committee shall specify.”

THE STOCK OPTION GRANTS

79.  As demonstrated herein, year after year, stock options were granted at different
times of the year. From at least fiscal year 1997 through fiscal year 2004, however, optiohs were
consistently granted on dates at a periodic low, or when there was a temporary dip in the price.
Additionally, the mere pricing of many of the options, regardless of the purported grant date, |
violated the governing Plans.

80.  The multi-year pattern of ‘stock option grants on dates with highly favorable
exercise prices—at a periodic low, or preceding a run-up in the share price—indicates that the
purported grant dates of the stoeck options were not the actual dates on which the option grants
were made. Rather, the pattern indicates that the purported grant dates were repeatedly
manipulated and backdated to dates with exceedingly low stock prices.

81. Only by backdating.the stock option grants—reviewing the share price in

 hindsight and retrospectively identifying the low points—could the Individual Defendants have

achieved the highly suspicious pattern of grants.

82. Inaeed, most of the exercise prices of the grants to the Officer Defendants were
below the weighted average closing price of Activision stock in the given fiscal year. In
addition, a large number of grants vested on the date of issue providing immediate and
substantial géin for the Officer Defendants.
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Empirical Analysis

83.  The stock option grants detailed herein were not merely fortuitous grants or the
result of coincidence, but were instead the result of the improper backdating, as demo;lstrated by
the large difference between the annualized stock price returns for the 20 day period subsequent
to the option pricing to Defendants in comparison to the public investor’s stock price returns for
the calendar year in which the options were granted. |

84.  On May 22, 2006, Merrill Lynch released a report titled “Options Pricing —
Hindsight is 20/20” which analyzed the option grant timing for the semiconductor and
semiconductor equipment companies that comprise the Philadelphia Semiconductor Index
(SOX) finding that the timing of options pricing had been “very advantageous for the executives
that received options.” This analysis is referred to as the “Merrill Lynch Analysis.” The Merrill
Lynch Analysis measured the twenty day performance of each option grant reported in a |
company’s proxy statements during the relevant backdating period. The analysis also calculates
the annualized return of the option grani:s at twenty days after the grant and compares that
annualized return with the company’s overall annual return.3’ Activision’s stock was not
analyzed in the Merrill Lynch report.

85.  Accordingly, counsel for Co-Lead Plaintiffs analyzed the stock option grants at
Activision using the same analysis as Merrill Lynch for the purported grants on January 17,
1996, April 1, 1996, July 16, 1996, July 17, 1996, December 20, 1996, April 1, 1997, May 15,
1997, May 19, 1997, March 24, 1998, June 5, 1998, September 14, 1998, October 2, 1998,
October 26, 1998, March 4, 1999, March 24, 1999, April 30, 1999, October 18, 1999, April 18,
2000, May 22, 2000, August 1, 2000, August 3, 2000, January 2, 2001, April 4, 2001, October
1, 2001, February 20, 2002, April 8, 2002, June 24, 2002, July 22, 2002, October 2, 2002,
February 27, 2003, Mar-ch 20, 2003, March 31, 2003, April 11, 2003 and November 6, 2003.
The Merrill .Lynch Analysis supports the conclusion that the grants at issue herein were

backdated.

3 Analysis results are rounded off to the nearest whole decimal.
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86. Applicati.on of the Merrill Lynch Analysis results in the following: annualized
investor returns were 17% for calendar year ended December 31, 1996, 39% for calendar year
ended December 31, 1997, negative 38% for calendar year ended December 31, 199.8, 38% for
calendar year ended Decémber 31, 1999, negative 1% for calendar year ended December 31,
2000, 158% for calendar year ended December 31, 2001, negative 44% for calendar year ended
December 31, 2002 and 87% for calendar year ended December 3 1; 2003.

87.  Next, a comparison of the twenty day and annualized returns to management on
the subject grants was undertaken.

88.  Applying the Merrill Lynch Analysis for the option grants in calendar year 1996
(1/17/96, 4/1/96, 7/16/96, 7/17/96, 12/20/96), the average twenty day return is 24%, ér 424%
annualized, as compared to 17% annualized return to investors in 1996. This is a difference of
407%.

89.  Forthe option grants in calendar year 1997 (4/1/97, 5/15/97, 5/19/97), the average
twenty day return is 26%, or 475% annualized, as compared to 39% annualized return to
investors in 1997. This is a difference of 436%.

90.  For the option grants in calendar year 1998 (3/24/98, 6/5/98, 9/14/98, 10/2/98,
10/26/98), the average twenty day return is 13%, or 227% annualized, as compared to negative
38% annualized return to investors in 1998. This is a difference of 265%.

91. For the option grants in calendar year 1999 (3/4/99, 3/24/99, 4/30/99, 10/18/99),
the average twenty day return is 16%, or 284% annualized, as compared to 38% annualized
return to investors in 1999. This is a difference of 246%.

92.  For the option grants in calendar year 2000 (4/18/00, 5/22/00, 8/1/00, 8/3/00), the
average twenty day return is 35%, or 636% annualized, as compared to negative 1% annualized
return to investors in 2000. This is a difference of 637%.

93. . For the option grants in calendar year 2001 (1/2/01, 4/4/01, 10/1/01), the average
twenty day return is 39%, 'or 704% annualized, as compared to 158% annualized return to

investors in 2001. This is a difference of 546%.
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94. For the 6ption grants in calendar year 2002 (2/20/02, 4/8/02, 6/24/02, 7/22/02,
10/2/02), the average twenty day return is 3%, or 53% annualized, as compared to negative 44%
annualized return to investors in 2002. This is a difference of 97%. '

95. For the option grants in calendar year 2003 (2/27/03, 3/20/03, 3/31/03, 4/11/03,
11/6/03), the average twenty day return is 8%, or 151% annualized, as compared to 87%
annualized return to investors in 2003. This is a difference of 64%.

96. The average annualized return to management on the option grants identified in
the relevant proxy statements for calendar years 1996 to 2003 is 369%, as compared to 32%
average annualized return to investors. This is a difference of 337%.

97. As readily seen by the vast discrepancies between the annualized manégement
and annualized investors returns, improper backdating is the only e);planation.
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Striking Pattérn Oi: Backdating Grants To Defendants Kotick and Kelly

98.  The two. most senior executives of Activision, Defendants Kotick and Kelly,
benefited the most from the improper backdating practices. Defendant Kotick has- served as
CEO and Chairman of the Board of Activision since 1991, and Defendant Kelly has served as
the Co-Chairman of Activision since 1998. Of the thousands of grants purportedly reviewed by
the Special Sub-Committee, which included numerous grants ;co rank and file employees,
Defendants Kotick and Kelly each received only 11 stock option grants between fiscal year 1997
and fiscal year 2003.

99.  As demonstrated below, in a striking pattern that could only be the result of
backdating, 10 out of these 11 grants had an exercise price that was the lowest price fof the 20-
day period after the grant date. The additional grant had an exercise price that was the second
lowest price for the 20-day period. Further, all 11 of the stock option grants were granted during |
these six years at different times of the year, with the only consistency being that the grant was at

or near a periodic low or preceding a run-up in the share price.

. Stock Price20 | % Rise In Stock Price

Purpogiglgate of Ei{,‘;li'glese Trading Days After | 20 Trading Days After

Purported Grant Date | Purported Grant Date
December 20, 1996 $10.56 $15.00 42.05%
May 19, 1997 $9.88 $14.00 41.70%
- $9.44 23.15%
June 5, 1998 $11.63 °
$9.50 22.37%
March 24, 1999 $10.50 : $11.31 7.71%
. $10.25 30.49%
April 30, 1999 $13.38 )
: $10.56 26.66%
April 18, 2000 $6.00 $7.00 16.67%

May 22,2000 - $6.13 $6.13 0%

April 4, 2001 ; $20.88 $27.03 29.45%
October 1, 2001 $25.00 $37.58 50.32%
April §, 2002 $27.61 $31.35 13.55%
July 22, 2002 T $22.94 $30.09 31.20%
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100. On Decémber 20, 1996, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock
options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Marks, Plaga, and Lasky with an exercise price of $10.56
per share - the lowest price for the 20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s .stock price
20 trading days after the grant was $15.00, for a 20-day cumulative return of 42.05%. The
exercise price was more than $2.00 below the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year.
The grant vested immediately allowing Defendants Kelly, Koticlé Marks, Plaga, and Lasky to

instantly reap gains from the backdating of the stock options.

December 20, 1996 Grant 52 Week High: $16.25
- Daily Closing Share Price iﬁeg:f;fzrfzﬁgj 240
$16
$15 p\
$14 -
$13
$12 -
20 Trading Days After Grant {{
$11 4 Pr?ce: ;15.0; t
Return: 42.05%
$10 |
$10.56 Exercise Price
$9 1 Granted On Decermber 20, 1996
$8 i T
R 3 88§ g8 8§ g® =g g
No.Of | Exercise | Total Grant | Total Grant
. Securities Price Value At Value 20
Date Executive Options Per Date Of Trading Days
' Granted Share Grant After Grant

12/20/1996 | Brian G. Kelly 15,000 $10.56 $158,400 $225,000

12/20/1996 Robe_rt A. Kotick 15,000 $10.56 $158,400 $225,000

12/20/1996 | Howard E. Marks ) 15,000 $10.56 $158,400 $225,000

12/20/ 1996 | Barry J. Plaga 15,000 $10.56 $158,400 $225,000

12/20/1996 | Mitchell H. Lasky 5,000 $10.56 $52,800 $75,000

/17
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101. On May 19, 1997, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly and Kotick with an exercise price of $9.88 per share - the lowest price for the

20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was
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$14.00, for a 20-day cumulative return of 41.70%. The exercise price was more than $3.00

below the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year.

May 19, 1997 Grant
Daily Closing Share Price

52 Week High: $18.13
52 Week Low: $10.25
Weighted Average:$13.74

$15
$14
$13 -

$12-_

20 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $14.00

$11 1 Return: 41.70%
$10 - - ®
/
$9 | . $9.88 Exercise Price
Granted On May 189, 1997
$8 . . .
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 &
> F§ 3 & © & ¥ ® = B & & K
e § 883855 55 8§ ¢ 888 3 ¢ 3
o 0r | P [ ot crane | T
. | Securities Value At i’
Date Executive Onti Per Date Of Trading
puions Share ate Days After
Granted Grant G
» rant
05/19/1997 | Brian G. Kelly 637,000 $9.88 $6,293,560 $8?918,000
05/19/1997 | Robert A. Kotick 125,000 $9.88 $1,235,000 $1,750,000
/1]
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102. On Juné 5, 1998 the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly and Kotick with exercise prices of $9.44 and $9.50. The $9.44 exercise price
was the second lowest price for the 20-day period after the grant da_te. Activision’s étock price
20 trading days after the grant was $11.63, for a 20-day cumulative return of 23.15% and
22.37%, respectively. The exercise price was more than $2.00 below the weighted average
closing price for the fiscal year. The $9.§0 grant vested immediatély allowing Defendants Kelly

and Kotick to instantly reap gains from the backdating of the stock options.

52 Week High: $14.75
June 5, 1998 Grant 52 Week Low: $9.25

Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $11.77

$12

$11 4

$10 4

20 Trading Days After Grant
Frice: $11.63
Return: 23.15% and 22.37%

$9 1 $9.44 and $9.50 Exercise Price
Granted On June 5, 1998

$8 . . . . .
[==] =] <] [ 0 <] [ [+ [oo] o) [ @© [o0] =] [ ©
o » o (o2 o (22 (2] [2)] [=}] (22 (o) [=>] [2 [+2] (=) o
S 5 ¥§F & © ® ©&8 & KB =T ® & & E £ »
5 T = © & & & 3 ®» T T T 9 o g R
[Ie] Ts] w w 9] [Te] © w (=} w [{e]
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant | Total Grant
: . Securities Price Value At Value 2
Date Executive . . 0
Options Per Date Of Trading Days
Granted Share Grant After Grant

06/05/1998 | Brian G. Kelly | 150,000 $9.44 $1,416,000 $1,744,500
] 108,951 $9.50 $1,035,034.50 | $1,267,100.10
06/05/1998 | Robert A. Kotick | 150,000 $9.44 $1,416,000 $1,744,500
108,951 $9.50 $1,035,034.50 | $1,267,100.10

111
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103. On Maréh 24, 1_999, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly and Kotick with an exercise price of $10.50 per share - the lowest price for the
20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trad-ing days after the- grant was
$11.31, for a 20-day cumulative return of 7.71%. The exercise price was more than $1.00 below
the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year. Some of the options vested immediately

allowing Defendants Kelly and Kotick to instantly reap gains frofn the backdating of the stock

options.
March 24, 1999 Grant g; ‘xeei :”9”-' 39’;’-575
Daily Closing Share Price e 51177,
$14
$13 4
$12
$11 f
. s 20 Trading Days After Grant
$10 Price: $11.31
- - Return: 7.71%
$10.50 Exercise Price
$9 - Granted On March 24, 1999
$8 ; . .
B 3 3 8 o 3 3 8 3 3 o 2 B8 3 3
S & o ) 5 = ES g 8 S ® N B >
o ] I3] = = = [N S Q < < h = hg
N N & ] 2] a3 %] & F I <
No.of | Fxercise gg;fllt Total Grant
Date Executive b(e)cul:ltles Per Value At Vq}ue 20
, ptions Share Date Of Trading Days
Granted Grant After Grant
03/24/1999 | Brian G. Kelly 1,000,000 $10.50 | $10,500,000 $11,310,000
03/24/1999 | Robert A. Kotick 1,000,000 $10.50 | $10,500,000 $11,310,000
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104. On Aprﬂ 30, 1999, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Dewar, Doornink, Lasky, and Steele with exercise prices of $10.25
and $10.56 per share. The $10.25 exercise price was the lowest prz’ce-z for the 20-day p.eriod after
the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was $13.38, for a 20-day
cumulative return of 30.49% and 26.66% respectively. The $10.25 exercise price is $0.06 below
the lowest closing price for the fiscal year and the $10.56 price'is only $0.25 above it. The

option grant with the $10.25 exercise price vested immediately.

= 52 Week High: $17.75
A|_:>r|| 30,_ 1999 Grar_1t o2 Weak Low: $10.31
Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $14.68
$14
$13
$12 - 20 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $13.38
Return: 30.49% and 26.66%
$11
$10 -
$10.25 and $10.56 Exercise Price
$9 1 Granted On April 30, 1999
$8 :
[o] (o)) (=2 [=2] [*2] » [+2] [*2 » [*23 [#2] [o2] [=)] =] [o)] D
g 2 & & & g & & & o ¢ 9o o o 9 2
~ 0 (=] [+2] N~ - wn 3] [a2] M~ <~ o [=)) o) M~ -—
F ¥§ ¥ T © & & & B s T T T 9§ o 9
< < <t < < n w0y [Te) wn [T w
. No.Of | Exercise | Total Grant Total Grant
. Securities Price Value At Value 20
Date Executive . .
Options Per Date Of Trading Days
Granted Share Grant After Grant

04/30/1999 | Brian G. Kelly 159,509 - | $10.25 | $1,634,967.20 | $2,134,230.40
04/30/1999 | Robert A. Kotick | 159,509 $10.25 | $1,634,967.20 | $2,134,230.40
04/30/1999 | Robert J. Dewar | 12,428 $10.25 | $127,387 $166,286.64

' ) 30,000 $10.56 | $316,800 $401,400
04/30/1999 | Robert Doomink | 31,706 $10.25 | $324,986.50 | $424,226.28

' 300,000 $10.56 | $3,168,000 $4,014,000
04/30/1999 | Mitchell H. Lasky | 23,303 $10.25 | $238,855.75 |$311,794.14
30,000 $10.56 | $316,300 $401,400
04/30/1999 | Richard A. Steele | 57,432 $10.25 | $588,678 $768,440.16
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105. On Aprﬂ 18, 2000, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck with an
exercise price of $6.00 — the lowest price for the 20-day period after the g;'ant date.
Activision”s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was $7.00, for a 20-day cumulative return
of 16.67%.. Some of the option grants vested immediately allowing these Defendants to instantly

reap gains from the backdating of the stock options.

52 Week High: $24.75

Apl'" 1 8, 2000 Grant 52 Week Low: $5.66
$14 Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $13.50
$12 -
$10
$8
6 | |
20 Trading Days After Grant
. Price: $7.00
$4 - . $6.00 Exercise Price Return: 16.67%
Granted On April 18, 2000
$2 : . r
S § £ &8 § §8 8 8-8 8 § s & 2 =
§ § § 5 5§58 5 § § 4§58 5§ 3
No. Of | Exercise | Total Grant T%,tgllu(ehi%nt
Date Executive Securities Price Value At Tradi
Options Per Date Of Davs Afniir
Granted Share Grant (y;

) rant
04/18/2000 | Brian G. Kelly 184,004 $6.00 $1,104,024 $1,288,028
04/18/2000 | Robert A. Kotick 184,004 $6.00 $1,104,024 $1,288,028
04/18/2000 | Ronald Doornink 142,854 $6.00 $857,124 $999,978
04/18/2000 | Lawrence Goldberg | 156,016 $6.00 $936,096 $1,092,112
04/18/2000 | Mitchell H. Lasky 75,965 $6.00 $455,790 $531,755
04/18/2000 | Michael J. Rowe 57,971 "$6.00 $347,826 $405,797
04/18/2000 | Richard A. Steele 62,313 $6.00 $373,878 $436,191
04/18/2000 | Kathy Vrabeck 63,866 $6.00 ) $383,196 $447,062
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106. On May 22, 2000, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly and Kotick with an exercise price of $6.13-— the lowest price for the 20-day
period after the grant date. The exercise price was more than $7.00 below the Weight.ed average
closing price for the fiscal year and only $0.47 above the lowest closing price for the fiscal year.
Although the price twenty days after the grant was $6.13, just eight days after the grant, the price
of the stock increased to $7.06 for a 15% change. Some of the option grants vested immediately

allowing Defendants Kelly and Kotick to instantly reap gains from the backdating of the stock

options.
May 22, 2000 Grant o e ST
Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $13.50
$8 -

8 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $7.06
Return: 15%

$7 -

$6

I

$6.13 Exercise Price
Granted On May 22, 2000

$5 -
20 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $6.13
$4 :
[ o (o= (o] o o (o) () [ (=] o [=] o (=) (=) o
o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o
5 ¥ ®» &8 ®» 8 ¥ ® ®W ® 88 & £ = B ©
o o N o] I} = = = N I 2 -] oS hay = =
< <t < [{9) un n Te] L 0 (¢ © [{e]
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant | Totdl Grant
' . Securities Price Value At Value Eight
Date Executive . 1€ Eig
Options Per Date Of Trading Days

Granted Share Grant After Grant
05/22/2000 Briian G. Kelly 1,000,000 $6.13 $6,130,000 $7,060,000

05/22/2000 | Robert A. Kotick | 1,000,000 $6.13 $6,130,000 $7,060,000

/11
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107. On Aprﬂ 4, 2001, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Chardavoyne, Doornink, Goldberg, Steele, Vrabeck, and Rowe with
an exercise price of $20.88 per share - the lowest price for the 20_—day period aﬁ‘er: the grant
date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was $27.03, for a 20-day
cumulative return of 29.45%. The exercise price was $9.00 below the weighted average closing
price for the fiscal year and $1.42 below the lowest split-adjustéd closing price for the year.
Some of the options vested immediately allowing these Defendants to instantly reap gains from

the backdating of the stock options.

52 Week High: $48.45

April 4, 2001 Grant o2 Woek Low §22.50
Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $29.88
$30
$28
$26 -

20 Trading Days After Grant | |

$24 1 Price: $27.03
Return: 29.45%
$22 |
$20.88 Exercise Price
Granted On April 4, 2001 \.
$20 , . .
s 3F 5 5 § 5 s ¥ ¥ 3 3 F 5§ 35 °
No. Of | Exercise | Total Grant Total Grant
. Securities Price Value At Value 20
Date Executive Options Per Date Of Trading Days
: Granted Share Grant After Grant
04/04/2001 | Brian G. Kelly 145,898 $20.88 | $3,046,350.20 | $3,943,622.90
04/04/2001 | Robert A. Kotick 145,898 $20.88 | $3,046,350.20 | $3,943,622.90
04/04/2001 | William Chardavoyne | 51,015 $20.88 | $1,065,193.20 | $1,378,935.40
04/04/2001 | Ronald Doornink 92,371 $20.88 | $1,928,706.40 | $2,496,788.10
04/04/2001 Lawrence Goldberg 54,820 $20.88 | $1,144,641.60 $1,481,784.60
04/04/2001 | Richard A. Steele 38,614 $20.88 $806,260.32 | $1,043,736.40
04/04/2001 | Kathy Vrabeck 69,485 $20.88 | $1,450,846.80 | $1,878,179.50
04/04/2001 | Michael J. Rowe 45,682 $20.88 $953,840.16 | $1,234,784.40
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108. On Octdber 1, 2001, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options
to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Chardavoyne, Doornink, Goldberg, Vrabeck, and Rowe with an
exercise price of $25.00 per share - the lowest price for the 20-day Period after the érant date.
Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was $37.58, for a 20-day cumulative
return of 50.32%. The exercise price was almost $5.00 below the weighted average closing price
for the fiscal year. All of the options Ves.ted immediately allowing these Defendants to instantly
reap gains from the backdating of the stock options. Only two days after the grants, on October
3, 2001, Activision announced its acquisition of Treyarch Invention, LLC. This announcement

led to a $6.19 increase in Activision’s stock price from October 2, 2001 to October 4, 2001.

52 Week High: $48.45
52 Week Low: $22.30
Weighted Average: $29.88

October 1, 2001 Grant
Daily Closing Share Price

$44
$40

$25.00 Exercise Price
$36 - Granted On October 1, 2001

$32 -

$28

20 Trading Days After Grant
$24 - Rt 0.3%
$20 . 1 l , ‘ .
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 & 53 58 5 &8 &8 B B B B
8 5 8 g8 8 £ 8 & &8 3 58 £ 2 2 & §
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant | Tetal Grant
. Securities Price Value At Value 20
Date Executive Options Per Date Of Trading Days
Granted Share Grant After Grant
10/01/2001 | Brian G Kelly 29,700 $25.00 $742,500 $1,116,126
10/01/2001 | Robert A: Kotick 29,700 $25.00 $742,500 $1,116,126
10/01/2001 .| William Chardavoyne' 10,980 $25.00 $274,500 $412,628.40
10/01/2001 | Ronald Doornink 17,550 . $25.00 $438,750 $659,529
10/01/2001 | Lawrence Goldberg 11,880 $25.00 $297,000 $446,450.40
10/01/2001 | Kathy Vrabeck 11,880 $25.00 |- $297,000 $446,450.40
10/01/2001 | Michael J. Rowe _ 9,360 $25.00 $234,000 $351,748.80
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109. On Aprﬂ 8, 2092,‘ the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Chardavoyne, Doornink, Goldberg, Vrabeck, and Rowe with an
exercise price of $27.61 per share - the lowest price for the 20-day period after the érant date.
Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was $31.35, for a 20-day cumulative
return of 13.55%. Some of the options vested immediately allowing these Defendants to

instantly reap gains from the backdating of the stock options.

52 Week High: $34.66

April 8, 2002 Grant 52 Week Low: $12.71
a4 Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $21.79
$33 -
$32 1

$31
$30

$29

$28 20 Trading Days After Grant
ercise Price Price: $31.3
$27 - Gf::tf;?nAprn 82002 /. Return: 13 315554,
$26 -
8y 0§ 8 8§ § ®§ § § & §y ¥y g g g 8
S ¥ 5 &8 &8 BE = ¥§ ® @ ® B8 ¥ @ a @
& = hg = o o Q F F hy by ] o QN B B
[s2] o o [+ [+2] ™ < <t ~ < <
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant Total Grant
. Securities Price Value At Value 20
Date Executive Options Per . Date Of Trading Days
: Granted Share Grant After Grant
04/08/2002 | Brian G. Kelly 87,912 $27.61 $2,427,250.30 | $2,756,041.20
04/08/2002 | Robert A. Kotick 87,912 $27.61 $2,427,250.30 | $2,756,041.20
04/08/2002 | William Chardavoyne | 100,000 $27.61 $2,761,000 $3,135,000
04/08/2002 | Ronald Doornink 60,000 $27.61 $1,656,600 $1,881,000
04/08/2002 | Lawrence Goldberg 40,000 $27.61 $1,104,400 , $1,254,000
04/08/2002 | Michael J. Rowe 20,000 $27.61 $552,200 $627,000
04/08/2002 | Kathy Vrabeck 40,000 $27.61 $1,104,400 $1,254,000
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110. On July 22, 2092, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, and Doornink with an exercise price of $22.94 per share - the lowest
price for the 20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock_ price 20 trading-days after
the grant was $30.09, for a 20-day cumulative return of 31.20%. The next day, Activision
announced that the Company extended its partnership with skateboarder Tony Hawk “through an
exclusive multi-year gaming licensing agreement that expires .in 2015.” Activision also
announced record financial results for the first fiscal quarter on July 23. Just a few days later on
July 30, Activision announced that the Company acquired “the publishing and distribution rights
to Gungrave™ for the PlayStation(R)2 computer entertainment system in Europe and
Australia/New Zeatand.” The Company’s stock price increased from'$24.07 on Jufy 22 to

$28.72 on July 31 as a result of the favorable news.

52 Week High: $34.66

July 22,2002 Grant 52 Week Low $12.71

Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $21.70

$32

$30

$28

$26 -
$241 $22.94 Exercise Price 2 Trad;:’gicl::aé:si:‘ étger Grant
Granted On July 22, 2002 ———r@ Returr: 31.20%
$22 . T T
8§ 08 8 98 & 8 § 8 8 8 8§ & g8 8 y 8
S 3. 8 8§ g ¢ ¥ 2 §8 ¢§8 8 8 5 ¢ gzt
[{] 4] [{] M~ ~ M~ I~ M~ N~ [+9] <] ©
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant Tth:llu(e}l;;)nt
T Securities Price Value At .
Date Executive Options Per Date Of Dzrzil?l%
) Granted Share Grant (}";rant r
07/22/2002 | Ronald Doornink | 725,000 $22.94 $16,631,500 $21,815,250
.07/22/2002 | Brian G. Kelly 350,000 $22.94 $8,029,000 $10,531,500
07/22/2002 | Robert A. Kotick | 350,000 $22.94 $8,029,000 $10,531,500
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Striking Pattern Of Backdating To Other Executives

111. From at least fiscal year 1998 through fiscal year 2004, Activision issued five
grants to various executives (other than Defendants Kotick and Kelly), including Defendants
Baker, Goldberg, Plaga, Lasky, Dewar, Chardavoyne, Rowe, Steele, and Doornink. These grants
continued the striking pattern that can only be explained by backdating. All five grants have an
exercise price that was the lowest price f(‘)r the 20-day period aﬁef the grant date. These grants
include the stock option grants dated May 15, 1997, March 24, 1998, March 4, 1999, October 18,
1999 and April 11, 2003. All five of the stock option grants were granted during these six years
at different times of the year, with the only consistency being that the grant was at or near a
periodic low or preceding a run-up in the share price.

112. On May 15, 1997, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Baker, Goldberg, Plaga, and Lasky with exercise prices of $10.00 and $10.50. The i
$10.00 exercise price was the lowest price for the 20-day period after the grant date.
Activision’s stock price 20 trading days ‘after the grant was $13.63, for a 20-day cumulative
return of 36.25% and 29.76% respectively. Some of the options vested immediately allowing |
Defendants Baker, Goldberg, Plaga, and Lasky- to instantly reap enormous gains from the

backdating of the stock options.

52 Week High: $18.13

May 15, 1997 Grant 52 Week Low $10.25

Daily Closing Share Price Weighled Average:$13.74

$15

$14

$13 1

$12 |

20 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $13.63

11 4
$ Return: 36.25% and 29.76%

o
$10 - ]
$9 $10.00 and $10.50 Exercise Frice
Granted On May 15, 1997
$8

4/16/97
4/20/97
4/24/97
4/28/97
. 5/2/97 7
5/6/97
5/10/97
5/14/97
5/18/97
5/22/97
5/26/97 7
5/30/97
6/3/97 7
6/7/97
6/11/97
6/15/97
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No. Of Exercise | Total Grant Total Grant
Date Executive Securities Price Value At Value 20
Options Per Date Of Trading Days
Granted Share» Grant After Grant
05/15/1997 | John T. Baker, IV 62,786 $10.50 $659;253 $855,773.18
05/15/1997 | Lawrence Goldberg | 35,656 $10.50 $374,388 $485,991.28
.05/15/1997 | Barry J. Plaga 5,600 $10.00 $56,000 $76,328
05/15/1997 | Mitchell H. Lasky 10;400 $10.00 $104,000 $141,752
70,000 $735,000 $954,100

113.

$10.50

On March 24, 1998, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to

Defendants Baker, Goldberg, Plaga, and Lasky with an exercise price of $9.50 - the lowest price

for the 20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the

grant was $11.31, for a 20-day cumulative return of 19.08%. The exercise price was $1.00 |.

below the lowest ciosing price and more than $4.00 below the weighted average closing price for

the fiscal year. Over half of the options vested immediately allowing Defendants Baker,

Goldberg, Plaga, and Lasky to instantly reap gains from the backdating of the stock options.

117
/117

$15

$14 -

$13 -

$12

$11 4

$10 4

$9

March 24, 1998 Grant
Daily Closing Share Price

52 Week High: $18.13
52 Week Low: $10.25
Weighted Average:$13.74

$9.50 Exercise Price

Granted On March 24, 1998 L 20 dei:grit[:)::):‘:;er e

Retum: 8.08%

- 3 3 8 8 8 83 8 &8 8 8 8 8 & B
T N & S - 2 2 § K 5 § 8 3 g §
8 ® 5 5 ®» & & 8 Y ¥ F 7 %
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No. Of | Exercise | Total Grant T%tall GI;)nt
. Securities | Price Value At aue
Date Executive . Trading
Options Per Date Of Davs Aft

Granted Share Grant (}ganter
03/24/1998 | John T. Baker, IV | 56,853 $9.50 $540,103.50 | $643,007.43
03/24/1998 | Lawrence Goldberg | 67,484 $9.50 $641,098 $763,244.04
03/24/1998 | Barry J. Plaga 54,862 $9.50 $521,189 $620,489.22

03/24/1998 | Mitchell H. Lasky | 85,300 $9.50 $810,350 $964,743

114. On March 4, 1999, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options.to

Defendants Goldberg and Plaga with an exercise price of $10.56 - the lowest price for the 20-

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading days after the grant was

$12.56, for a 20-day cumulative return of 18.96%. The exercise price was more than $1.00

below the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year.

March 4, 1999 Grant
Daily Closing Share Price

52 Week High: $14.75
52 Week Low: $9.25
Weighted Average: $11.77

$14

$13 -

$12

$11 -

20 Trading Days After Grant
$10 Price: $12.56
Return: 18.96%
$9 1 $10.56 Exercise Frice
Granted On March 4, 1999
$8 T : y :
2 3 8 28 8 &8 %8 8 8 8 g8 g8 &8 38 38 8
S 2 £ § 85 § 8§ 8 ¢ &8 5 2§ 8 8 ¢
8 8 3§ ¥ 8§ § § ®° ©° B3 3 3 & & & ¥
No. Of Exercise | Total Grant Tg}:llu(gaz:)nt
Date Fxecutive Securities Price © Value At Tradin
Options | . Per Date Of D Aftg
Granted Share Grant a(y}ianter
03/04/1999 | Lawrence Goldberg | 33,000 $10.56 $348,480 $414,480
03/04/1999 | Barry J. Plaga 33,000 $10.56 $348,480 $414,480
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115. On Octdber 18, 1999, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options

to Defendants Dewar, Lasky, and Goldberg with an exercise price of $13.38 - the lowest price

for the 20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 trading da};s after the

grant was $14.13, for a 20-day cumulative return of 5.57%. The exercise price was more than

$1.00 below the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year. Only two days after the

grant, on October 20, Activision announced its financial results for the fiscal quarter ended

September 30, 1999, including an increase in net revenues. The release of this favorable news

resulted in a $1.00 increase in the stock price between October 18 and October 21. Five days

after the grant, the price of the stock increased to $15.62 for a 17% change.

October 18, 1999 Grant

Daily Closing Share Price

52 Week High: $17.75
52 Week Low: $10.31
Weighted Average: $14.68

$18 |

$16 1

$14
$13.38 Exercise Frice 2 Trad;:r;’gicl:;;: : :’;er Grant
Granted On October 18, 1999 Remn't 5_5'7%
$12 . . : . : . A . : ; :
2 8 8 8 8 g8 8.8 8 8 8 8 8 8 & 8
S 5 § 8 g5 2z 88z fEEoE
. No. Of | Exercise | Total Grant Tth:llugga;)nt
Date Executive Securities Price Value At Trading
Options Per Date Of Davs After
Granted Share Grant ()“;ran ¢
10/18/1999 | Robert J. Dewar 75,000 $13.38 $1,003,500 $1,059,750
10/18/1999 | Mitchell H. 'Lasky 150,000 $13.38 $2,007,000 $2,119,500
10/18/1999 | Lawrence Goldberg | 75,000 $13.38 $1,003,500 $1,059,750
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116. On Aprii 11, 2003, the Director Defendants purportedly granted stock options to
Defendants Chardavoyne, Rov-ve, Steéle, and Doornink with an exercise price of $13.52 - the
lowest price for the 20-day period after the grant date. Activision’s stock price 20 tréding days
after the grant was $16.90, for a 20-day cumulative return of 24.98%. The exercise price was
more than $2.00 below the weighted average closing price for the fiscal year. Seventeen days
after the grant, the stock price climbed to $18.07 per share for a 33.65% change. There were no |
Form 4s filed within the two day period permitted by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or soon thereafter,

further evidencing backdating.

H 52 Week High: $35.60
April 11,2003 Grant 22 week High 896
Daily Closing Share Price Weighted Average: $15.69
$20 —
$18 4
$13.52 Exercise Price —
Granted On April 11, 2003
$16

20 Trading Days After Grant
Price: $16.90
Return: 24.98%

$14 4

$12 . . .
2 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
5 S 1 B 8 S & 2 ¥ 2 § g 8 £ g ¢§
5 5 8 & & ¥ 3 F F 5§ 5 % v v F
No. Of Exercise g:;?llt Total Grant
. Securities Price Value 20
Date ) Execuhve Options Per ‘17;;1&66? Trading Days
Granted Share Grant After Grant
04/11/2003 , | William Chardavoyne | 22,000 $13.52 $297,440 $371,800
04/11/2003 | Michael J. Rowe 22,000 $13.52 $297,440 $371,800
04/11/2003 | Richard A. Steele 22,000 $13.52 $297,440 $371,800
04/11/2003 Ronald Doornink 66,000 $13.52 | $892,320 $1,115,400
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117. Inall, thé Director Defendants granted the Officer Defendants millions of dollars
in unjustified and unlawfully obtained compensation as a result of these backdated stock options.

118. The backdating of stock option grants and the issuance of these opti.ons in the
amounts awarded to the Officer Defendants caused, and continues to cause, substantial harm to
Activision. Backdating stock option grants represents a direct and continuing waste of valuable
corporate assets. Because Activision is the counterparty to the optfon contracts, when the Officer
Defendants exercise their backdated stock options, money is siphoned, on a dollar for dollar
basis, directly from Activision. In effect, the backdated grants give the Officer Defendants an
option to purchase Activision shares directly from the Company at an unfair and improperly low
price, with the Company making up the difference. The sums involved are enorrnéus. For
example, as of March 31, 2004, the unrealized gains on Defendants Kotick, Kelly and
Doomink’s unexercised stock options alone were worth in excess of $75 million, $74 million |
and $28 million, respectively. According to limited available public records, Defendant Kelly
sold at least 600,000 shares of backdated common stock for a profit of at least $15,595,029 and
Defendant Kotick sold at least 403,500 backdated shares for a profit of at least $9,106,710.

119. Backdating stock options also severely undermines the already grossly excessive
incentives that purportedly justify the use of stock options to compensate Activision’s
management. Stock option compensation is intended to encourage management to maximize the
return to shareholders by aligning the interests of management with those of shareholders. In
contrast, by permitting the Officer Deferidants to receive stock option grants backdated to
correspond to low points in the stock price, the Director Defendants created a perverse incentive
for management to engineer dips and volatile swings in the stock price. Further, the size and
terms of the grants were so excessive that they incentivized management to retire rather than
work.

120. Issuing backdated stock options is unlawful, ulz‘ra vires and outside the scope of
legitimate and permissible -business conduct. The practice is inherently manipulative and
involves a substantial likelihood that business records were intentionally falsified. Issuing

/17
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backdated stock options is, therefore, not a form of business conduct and is not protected by the
business judgment rule.

ULTRA VIRES STOCK OPTION GRAN:I"S

121. In addition to authorizing the issuance of backdated options as set forth elsewhere
herein, between at least fiscal year 1996 and fiscal year 2004, the Director Defendants committed
ultra vires acts by issuing stock options \yith exercise prices not set consistently with the express
terms of the operative stock option plans in effect at the time of the issuance. In many instances,
the Director Defendants set stock options exercise prices at the lowest trading price for the day-of
the stock option grant (or the day preceding the option grant date) — which is clearly beyond the
scope of the powers afforded the Director Defendants pursuant to the stock optioﬁs plans
approved by shareholders. According to the Company’s stock option plans, options exercise
prices were to be set at the "Fair Market Value" of a share, which is defined as the closing price |
of a share on the day immediately preceding the date as of the options grant.# By issuing stock
options with exercise prices set af the lowest trading price of a share, as opposed to the closing

price for the preceding day as required by the Company’s stock option plans, Defendants

 illegally benefited and committed u/fra vires acts. -

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 1996 Ultra Vires Option Grants

122. On June 30; 1995, Defendants Kotick, Marks, and Kelly were together
purportedly granted 67,000 stock options at an exercise price of $6.75, which was the lowest
price of Activision common stock on both June 29, 1995 and June 30, 1995. Pursuant to the
operative stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price-should have

been set at the closing price of a share on June 29, 1995, which was $7.00. The Director

4 The Company’s 1991 Stock Option Plan states: “The ‘Fair Market Value’ of a share of
Common Stock as of a specified date shall mean the closing price of a share of stock on the
principal securities exchange on which such shares are traded on the day immediately preceding
the date as of which Fair Market Value is being determined, or on the next preceding date on
which such shares are traded if no shares were traded on such immediately preceding day . . ..”
The Company’s 1998 Stock Option Plan is substantially identical; stating, “the ‘Fair Market
Value’ of a Share as of a specified date shall mean the closing price of a share on the day
immediately preceding the date as of which Fair Market Value is being determined . . . .”
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Defendants committed -an ultr_a vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kotick, Marks, and
Kelly with a strike price $0.25 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kotick,
Marks, and Kelly received an improper benefit of $16,750 [67,000 shares x $0.25]. '

123. On J anuar-y 17, 1996, Defendant Plaga was purportedly granted 5,000 stock
options at an exercise price of $9.75, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on
January 17, 1996. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in éffect at the time of this grant,
the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on January 16, 1996, which
was $10.12. The Director Defendants committed an wlfra vires act by issuing options ‘to
Defendant Plaga with a strike .price $0.37 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result,
Defendant Plaga received an improper benefit of $1,850 [5,000 shares x $0.37]. |

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 1997 Ultra Vires Option Grants

124.  On April 1, 1996, Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, and Plaga were together |
purportedly granted 103,833 stock options at an exercise price of $13.00, which was the lowest
price of Activision common stock on March 29, 1996 — the preceding trading day. (On April 1,
1996, Activision stock was never below $13.12.) Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in
effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a
share on March 29, 1996, which was $13.12. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires
act by issuing options to Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, and Plaga with a strike price $0.12
less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, and Plaga
received an improper benefit of $12,460 [103,833 shares x $0.12].

125. On December 20, 1996, Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, and- Plaga were
together purportedly granted 60,000 stock options at an exercise price of $10.56, which was the
closing price of Activision common s:cock on December 20, 1996. Pursuant to the opérative
stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at
the closing pﬁce of a share on December 19, 1996, which was $11.00. The Director Defendants
committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, and Plaga
with a strike price $0.44 less than the Fair Market Value. Asa result, Defendants Kotick, Marks,
Kelly, and Plaga received an improper benefit of $26,400 [60,000 shares x $0.44].
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 1998 Ultra Vires Option Grants

126. On April 1, 1997, Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga were together
purportedly granted 49,703 stock options at an exercise price of $10.88, which was .the lowest
price of Ac’;ivision common stock on April 1, 1997. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan
in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of
a share on March 31, 1997, which was $11.25. The Director Défendants committed an ultra
vires act by issuing options to Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga with a strike price $0.37
Jess than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga received an
improper benefit of $18,390 [49,703 shares x $0.37].

127. On May 15, 1997, Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga were iogether
purportedly granted 104,042 stock options at an exercise price of $10.50. Pursuant to the
operative stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should ﬁave .
been set at the closing price of a share on May 14, 1997, which was $12.50. The Director
Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and
Plaga with a strike price $2.00 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Baker,
Goldberg, and Plaga received an improper benefit of $208,084 [104,042 shares x $2.00].

128. On May 19, 1997, Defendants Kelly and Kotick were together purportedly
granted 762,000 stock options at an exercise price of $9.88, which was the lowest price of
Activision common stock on May 19, 1997. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect
at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share
on May 16, 1997 (there was no trading on May 17 or May 18), which was $10.62. The Director
Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly and Kotick with
a strike price $0.74 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kelly and Kotick
received an improper benefit of $563,880 [762,000 shares x $0.74].

129. " On March 24, 1998, Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga were together
purportedly granted 179,199 stock options at an exercise price of $9.50, which was the lowest
price of Activision common stock on March 24, 1998. Pursuant to the operative stock option

plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing
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price of a share on March 23, 1998, which was $11.50. The Director Defendants committed an
ultra vires act by issuing optic.)ns to Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga with a strike price
$2.00 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants ].3aker, Goldberg,.and Plaga
received an improper benéfit of $358,398 [179,199 shares x $2].

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 1999 Ultra Vires Option Grants

130. On June 5, 1998, Defendants Kelly and Kotick Weré together purportedly granted
300,000 stock options at an exercise price of $9.44 and 217,902 stock options at an exercise
price of $9.50. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants,
the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on June 4, 1998, which was
$9.56. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants
Kotick and Kelly with a strike price $0.12 and $0.06 less than the Fair Market Value
respectively. As a result, Defendants Kotick and Kelly received an improper benefit of $36,000 |.
[300,000 shares x $0.12] and $13,074 [217,902 shares x $0.06].

131. On September 14, 1998, Defendant Goldberg was purportedly granted 1,000
stock options at an exercise price of $10.88, which was the lowest price of Activision common
stock on September 14, 1998. Pursuant to-the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of
this grant, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on September
11, 1998 (there waé no trading on September 12 or September 13), which was $11.00. The

Director Defendants committed an uktra vires act by issuing options to Defendant Goldberg with

 a strike price $0.12 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendant Goldberg received

an improper beneﬁt of $120 [1000 shares x $0.12].

132. On October 2, 1998, Defendant Baker was purportedly granted 500 stock options
at an exercise price of $10.25, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on
October 2, 1998. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of this grant,
the exercise 1;rice should have been set at the closing price of a share on October 1, 1998, which
was $10.50. The Director- Defendants committed an wl/fra vires act by issuing options to
Defendant Baker with a strike price $0.25 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result,
Defendant Baker received an imp.roper benefit of $250 [500 shares x $0.25].
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133. On Octdber 26, 1998, Defendant Doornink was purportedly granted 200,000
stock options at an exercise pl:ice of $10.31, which was the lowest price of Activision common
stock on October 26, 1998. Pursuant to the operative stock option _plan in effect at the time of
this grant, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on October 23,
1998, which was $10.37. The Director Defendants committed an ulfra vires act by issuing
options to Defendant Doornink with a st?ike price $0.06 less than the Fair Market Value. As a
result, Defendant Doornink received an improper benefit of $12,000 [200,000 shares x $0.06).

134. On December 11, 1998, Defendant Henderson was purportedly granted 12,000
stock options at an exercise price of $11.50, which was the lowest price of Activision common
stock on December.11, 1998. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at thé time of
this grant, the exercise price should have been set -at the closing | price of a share on
December 10, 1998, which was $12.00. The Director Defendants committed an wlfra vires act |
by issuing options to Defendant Henderson with a strike price $0.50 lgss, than the Fair Market
Value. As a result, Defendant Henderson received an improper benefit of $6,000 [12,000 shares
x $0.50].

135. On March 4, 1999, Defendants Goldberg and Plaga were together purportedly
granted 66,000 stock options at an exercise price of $10.56, which was the lowest price of
Activision common stock on March 4, 1999. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in
effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a
share on March 3, 1999, which was $10.94. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires
act by issuing options to Defendants Goldberg and Plaga with a strike price $0.38 less than the
Fair Market Valué. As a result, Defendants Goldberg and Plaga received an improper benefit of
$25,080 [66,000 shareg x $0.38].

136. On March 24, 1999, Defendants Kelly and Kotick were together purportedly
granted 2,000,000 stock options at an exercise price of $10.50, which was the lowest price of
Activision common stock on March 24, 1999. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in
effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a

share on March 23, 1999, which 'was $12.06. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires
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act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly and Kotick with a strike price $1.56 less than the Fair
Market Value. As a result, .Defendants Kelly and Kotick, received an improper benefit of
$3,120,000 [2,000,000 shares x $1.56]. . .

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2000 Ultra Vires Option Grants

137. On April 30, 1999, Defendants Dewar, Doornink, Kelly, Kotick, Lasky, and
Stecle were together purportedly granted 417,432 options at an eiercise price of $10.25, which
was the lowest price of Activision common stock on April 30, 1999. Pursuant to the operative
stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set'at
the closing price of a share on April 29, 1999, which was $10.31. The Director Defendants
committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Dewar, Doornink, Kelly,- Kotick,
Lasky, and Steele with a strike price $0.06 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result,
Defendants Dewar, Doornink, Kelly, Kotick, Lasky, and Steele received an improper benefit of |.
$25,046 [417,432 shares x $0.06].

138. On August 5, 1999, Defendants Vrabeck and Rowe were together purportedly
granted 125,000 options at an exercise price of $12.25, which was the lowest price of Activision
common stock on August 5, 1999. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at the
time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on
August 4, 1999, which was $12.63. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by
issuing options to Defendants Vrabeck and Rowe with a strike price $0.38 less than the Fair
Market Value. As a result, Defendaﬁts Vrabeck and Rowe received an improper benefit of
$47,500 [125,000 shares x $0.38].

139. On October 18, 1999, Defendants Dewar, Lasky, and Goldberg were together
purportedly granted 300,000 options at an exercise price of $13.38, which was the lowest price
of Activision common stock on October 18, 1999. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in
effect at the t'ime of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a
share on October 17, 1999, which was $13.94. The Director Defendants committed an ultra
vires act by issuing options to Defendants Dewar, Lasky, and Goidberg with a strike price $0.56

117
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less than the Fair Markét Value. As a result, Defendants Dewar, Lasky, and Goldberg received
an improper benefit of $168,000 [300,000 shares x $0.56].
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2001 Ultra Vires Option Grants

140. On April 1.8, 2000, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe,
Steele, and Vrabeck were together purportedly granted 984,958 options at an exercise price of
$6.00, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock oﬁ April 18, 2000. Pursuant to
the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have
been set at the closing price of a share on April 17, 2000, which was $6.38. The Director
Defendants committed an wultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick,
Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck with a strike price $0.38 less ;chan the
Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe,
Steele, and Vrabeck received an improper benefit of $374,284 [984,958 shares x $0.38].

141. On May 22, 2000, Defendants Kelly and Kotick were together purportedly {
granted 2,000,000 options at an exercise price of $6.13, which was the closing price of
Activision common stock on May 22, 2000. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect
at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share
on May 21, 2000, which was $6.75. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by
issuing options to Defendants Kelly and Kotick with a strike price $0.62 less than the Fair

Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kelly and Kotick received an improper benefit of

' $1,240,000 [2,000,000 shares x $0.62].

142. On August 1, 2000, Defendant Doornink was purportedly granmted 100,000
options at an exercise price of $8.50. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at the
time of this grant, the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on July
31, 2000, which was $8.75. The Director Defendants committed an ulfra vires act by issuing
options to Defendant Doornink with a strike price $0.25 less than the Fair Market Value. As a
result, Defendant Doornink received an improper benefit of $25,000 [100,000 shares x $0.25].

143. On August 3, 2000, Defendant Vrabeck was 'grantéd 75,000 options at an exercise

price of $8.63, which was.the Jowest price of Activision common stock on August 3, 2000.
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Pursuant to the operati\;e stock option plan in effect at the time of this grant, the exercise price
should have been set at the closing price of a share on August 2, 2000, which was $8.87. The
Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendant Vrabeck with a
strike price $0.24 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendant Vrabeck received an
improper benefit of $18,000 {75,000 shares x $0.24].

144. On January 2, 2001, Defel}dant Goldberg was purpdrtedly granted 75,000 options
at an exercise price of $13.63, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on
January 2, 2001. Pursuant to the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of this grant,
the exercise price should have been set at the closing price of a share on December 29, 2000,
which was $15.12 .(there was no trading on December 30, 31, or January 1). The Director
Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendant Goldberg with a strike '
price $1.49 less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendant Goldberg received an |
improper benefit of $111,750 [75,000 shares x $1.49].

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2002 Ultra Vires Option Grants

145. On April 4, 2001, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doomink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe,
Steele, and Vrabeck were together purportedly granted 643,783 options at an exercise price of |
$20.88, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on April 4, 2001. Pursuant to
the operative stock option plan in effect at the time of these grants, the exercise price should have |
been set at the closing price of a share on April 3, 2001, which was $23.50. The Director
Defendants committed an wltra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick,
Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck with a strike price $2.62 less than the
Fair Market Valué. As a result, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe,
Steele, and Vrabeck refzeived an improper benefit of $1,686,711 [643,783 shares x $2.62].

146. On October 1, 2001, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky,
Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck were fogether purportedly granted 121,050 options at an exercise
price of $25.00, which was-the lowest price of Activision common stock on October 1, 2001.
Pursuant to stock option plans existing at.the time of these option grants, the exercise price

should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share of Activision (as defined variously by
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Activision’s stock optic;n plan then existing). The closing price and fair market value of
Activision common stock on. September 28, 2001 was $27.22 (there was no trading on
September 30 or September 29). The stock options granted to Defendants Kellgf, Kotick,
Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck on October 1, 2001 were not at Fair
Market Value and were inconsistent with the then existing stock option plans. The Director
Defendants committed an wultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick,
Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck at less than the Fair Market Value. Asa
result, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck
received improper gains resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

147. On February 20, 2002, Defendant Steele was purportedly granted 100,000 'options
at an exercise price of $25.61, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on
February 20, 2002. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of this option grant, the |
exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share of Activision (as defined
variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The closing price and fair market
value of Activision common stock on February 19, 2002, was $25.72. The stock options granted
to Defendant Steele on February 20, 2002 were not at Fair Market Value and were inconsistent
with the then existing stock option plans. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act
by issuing options to Defendant Steele at less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendant
Steele received improper gains resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003 Ultra Vires Option Grants

148. On‘Apn'l 8, 2002, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe,
Steele, and Vrabeck were together purportedly granted 435,824 options at an exercise price of
$27.61, which wasthe lowest price of Activision common stock on April 8, 2002. Pursuant to
stock option plans existiﬁg at the time of these option grants, the exercise price should have been
set at the Fair. Market Value for a share of Activision (as defined variously by Activision’s stock
option plans then existing). The closing price and fair market value of Activision common stock
on April 5, 2002 was $28.58 (there was no trading on April 7, 2002 or April 6,2002). The stock
options granted to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and
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Vrabeck on April 8, 2602 were not at Fair Market Value and were inconsistent with the then
existing stock option plans. The Director Defendants committed an u/fra vires act by issuing
options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg, Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and -Vrabeck at
less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink, Goldberg,
Lasky, Rowe, Steele, and Vrabeck received improper gains resulting from the ultra vires stock
option grants. ] |

149. On July 22, 2002, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, and Doornink were together
purportedly granted 1,425,000 options at an exercise price of $22.94, which was the lowest price
of Activision common stock on July 22, 2002. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time
of these option grants, the exercise price shoﬁld have been set at the Fair Market Valﬁe for a
share of Activision (as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The
closing price and fair market value of Activision common stock on July 19, 2002 was $25.60 |
(there was no trading on July 21, 2002 or July 20, 2002). The stock options granted to
Defendants Kelly, Kotick, and Doornink on July 22, 2002 were not at Fair Market Value and
were inconsistent with the then existing stock option plans. The Director Defendants committed
an wultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, and Doornink at less than the
Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Kelly, Kotick, aﬁd Doornink received improper
gains resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

150. On September 19, 2002, Director Defendants Morgado, Isgur, Henderson, and
Mayer were purportedly granted stock options at an exercise price of $25.36, which was the

lowest price of Activision common stock on September 19, 2002. Pursuant to stockoption plans

_existing at the time of these option grants, the exercise price should have been set at the Fair

Market Value for a share of Activision (as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plans
then existing). The cfosing price and fair market value of Activision common stock on
September Ig, 2002 was $27.05. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by
issuing options to Director Defendants Morgado, Isgur, Henderson, and Mayer at less than the
Fair Market Value. As a result, these Defendants received improper gains resulting from the

ultra vires stock option grants.
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151. On OctoBer 2, 2002, Defendants Vrabeck and Goldberg were purportedly granted
stock options at an exercise price of $21.82, which was the lowest price of Activision common
stock on October 2, 2002. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of th-ese option
grants, the exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share of Activision
(as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The closing price and
fair market value of Activision common stock on October 1, 2062 was $22.10. The Director
Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Vrabeck and Goldberg
at less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, these Defendants received impioper gains
resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

152. On February 27, 2003, Defendant Doornink was purportedly granted stock
options at-an exercise price of $14.17, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock
on February 27, 2003. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of this option grant, the |,
exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share of Activision (as defined
variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The closing price and fair market
value of Activision common stock on February 26, 2003 was $14.34. The Director Defendants
committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendant Doornink at less than the Fair
Market Value. As a result, Defendant Doornink received improper gains resulting from the ultra
vires stock option grants.

153. On March 20, 2003, Defendants Goldberg and Vrabeck were purportedly granted
stock options at an exercise price of $14.53, which was the lowest price of Activision common
stock on March 20, 2003. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of these option
grants, the exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share of Activision
(as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The closing price and
fair market value of Activision common stock on March 19, 2003 was $14.75. The Director
Defendants c.ommitted an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Goldberg and Vrabeck
at less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, these Defendants received improper gains
resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

/11
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004 Ultra Vires Option Grants

154. On April 1, 2003, Defendants Kotick and Kelly were purportedly gra.nted stock
options at an exercise price of $14.17. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of
these option grants, the e7;ercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a share
of Activision (as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plaps then existing). The closing
pﬁce and fair market value of Activision common stock on March 31, 2003 was $14.45. The
Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Kotick and
Kelly at less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, these Defendants received improper gains
resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants. - .

155. On April 11, 2003, Defendants Chardavoyne, Rowe, and Steele were together
purportedly granted 99,000 options at an exercise price of $13.52, which was the lowest price of
Activision common stock on April 11, 2003. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time |-
of these option gre-lnts, the exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a
share of Activision (as defined variously l;y Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The |
stock options granted to Defendants Chardavoyne, Rowe, and Steele on April 11, 2003 were not
at Fair Market Value and were inconsistent with the then existing stock option plans. The
Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by issuing options to Defendants Chardavoyne,
Rowe, and Steele at less than the Fair Market Value. As a result, Defendants Chardavoyne,
Rowe, and Steele received improper gains resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

156. On September 18, 2003, Director Defendants Morgado, Isgur, Henderson, and
Mayer were purportedly granted stock options at an exercise price of $12.28, which was the |
lowest price of Activision common stock on September 18, 2003. Pursuant to stock option plans |
existing at the time of these option grants, the exercise price should have been set at the Fair
Market Value for a shar.e of Activision (as defined variously by Activision’s stock option plans
then existing). The closing price and fair market value of Activision common stock on
September 17, 2003 was $12.80. The Director Defendants committed an ultra vires act by
issuing options to Director Defendants Morgado, Isgur, Henders.on, and Mayer at less than the

/11

SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT -58-




S

O 0 2 O W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

D0/00/2007 08:41 FIRST LEGA! SUPPORT FAX (213)250-1187

Fair Market Value. Aé a result, Director Defendants Morgado, Isgur, Henderson, and Mayer
received improper gains resulting from the ultra vires stock option grants.

157. On November 6, 2003, Defendant Vrabeck was purpc_)rtedly granted st(;ck options
at an exercise price of $14.89, which was the lowest price of Activision common stock on
November 6, 2003. Pursuant to stock option plans existing at the time of these option grants, the
exercise price should have been set at the Fair Market Value for a éhare of Activision (as defined
variously by Activision’s stock option plans then existing). The closing price and fair market
value of Activision common stock on November 5, 2003 was $15.13. The Director Defendants
committed an ulfra vires act by issuing options to Defendant Vrabeck at less than the Fair
Market Value. As a result, Defendant Vrabeck received impropef gains resulting from fhe ultra
vires stock option grants.

DISSEMINATION OF FALSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

158. The Individual Defendants knew, or were deliberately reckless in not knowing,
that they made materially false and misleading statements in the periodic filings they prepared,
approved, reviewed and/or signed.

159.  As aresult of the improper backdating of stock options and/or otherwise improper

options grants, the Company, with the knowledge, approval, and participation of each of the

Individual Defendants,
a. violated the terms of the Company’s shareholder-approved stock option
plans; .
b. violated GAAP by failing to recognize compensation expenses incurred

when the improperly priced options were granted;

c. violated Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) with respect to the
contemporaneous tax treatment of stock option grants; and

d. produced and disseminated to Activision shareholders and the market false
financial statements that improperly recorded and accounted for the
improperly priced option grants.

160. The Company, with the knowledge, approval, and participation of each of the

Individual Defendants, disseminated its false financial statements in, inter alia, the following

Form 10-K filings:
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F 6rm 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1996, filed with the SEC
on July 8, 1996 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly, Plaga,
and Isgur; .

Form 10-K405 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997, filed with the
SEC on June 16, 1997 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Marks, Kelly,
Plaga, Morgado, and Isgur;

Form 10-K405 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998, filed with the
SEC on June 29, 1999 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Plaga,
Morgado, and Isgur; '

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999, filed with the SEC
on June 29, 1999 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Plaga,
Morgado, and Isgur;

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000, filed with the SEC
on June 29, 2000 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Chardavoyne,
and Isgur;

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001, filed with the SEC |
on June 27, 2001 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Chardaveyne,
Morgado, and Isgur; ‘

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC
on June 28, 2002 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink,
Chardavoyne, Morgado, and Isgur;

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, filed with the SEC
on June 19, 2003 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink,
Chardavoyne, Morgado, and Isgur;

Form 10-K/A Tor the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, filed with the SEC
on July 29, 2003 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Doornink, and
Chardavoyne;

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, filed with the SEC
on June 10, 2004 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doomnink,
Chardavoyne, Morgado, Isgur, and Corti;

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, filed with the SEC
on June 9, 2005 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doomink,
Chardavoyne, Morgado, Isgur, and Corti; and

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, filed with the SEC
on June 9, 2006 and signed by Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink,
Morgado, Isgur, and Corti.
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161. The ﬁnaﬁcial statements in the foregoing Form 10-K filings were false because
Activision, in violation of GAAP, understated compensation expenses it was required to incur
when the improperly priced options were granted, and therefore overstated net income by
indeterminate material amounts. |

THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS’ CONCEALMENT OF THEIR MISCONDUCT

162. From at least fiscal year.1995, Activision, with the knowledge, approval, and
participation of each of the Individual Defendants, for the purpose and with the effect of
concealing the improper option backdating:

a. disseminated to shareholders and filed with the SEC annual proxy
statements that falsely reported the dates of stock option grants to the Officer
Defendants; and

b. filed with the SEC Form 3, 4, and 5 filings that falsely reported the dates |
of stock option grants to the Officer Defendants.

163. The Individual Defendants caused Activision to send shareholders proxy
statements in connection with the Company’s annual shareholder meectings. The Individual
Defendants approved, prepared and/or reviewed -each proxy statement between at least fiscal
year 1997 and fiscal year 2004. Moreover, they knew, or were deliberately reckless in not
knowing, that proxy statements sent to shareholders during this time period contained materially
false and misleading disclosures or omitted information about Activision’s stock option
practices, as detailed herein.

164. Activision, with the knowledge, approval, and participation of -each of the
Individual Defeﬁdants, for the purpose and with the effect of concealing the improper
backdating, dissemina.ted to shareholders and filed with the SEC annual proxy statements that
falsely reported the dates of stock option grants to the Officer Defendants and falsely stated that
options were granted in accordance with the shareholc_ler-approved stock option plans:

(a) Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 29, 1997, falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Marks, and Plaga were granted

on December 20, 1996; ~
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(b) Aétivisiqn’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 29, 1998, falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Baker, Goldberg, and Plaga were granted on
May 15, 1997; falsely reported that options granted to Defenc.lants Kotick and I.(elly were
granted on May 19, 1997; and falsely reported that options granted to Defendants Baker,
Goldberg, and Plaga were granted on March 24, 1998.

© Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 29, 1999, falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick and Kelly were granted on June 5,
1998; and falsely reported that options granted to Defendants Goldberg and Plaga were
granted on March 4, 1999;

@ - Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 28, 2000; falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doomink, Dewar, and Lasky
were granted on April 30, 1999; and falsely reported that options granted to Defendants |
Dewar and Lasky were granted on October 18, 1999;

(e) Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 30, 2001, falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink, Goldberg, and
Vrabeck were granted on April 18, 2000; and falsely reported that options granted to
Defendants Kotick and Kelly were granted on May 22, 2000;

® Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 29, 2002, falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink, Chardavoyne,
Steele, Goldberg, and Vrabeck were granted on April 4, 2001; and falsely reported that
options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doomink, Chardavoyne, Goldberg and
Vrabeck v;fere granted on October 1, 2001;

(g) - _Activisioﬁ’s Prqu Statement filed with the SEC on August 8, 2003,
falsely reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, Doornink,
Char&avoyne, Rowe, Goldberg, and Vrabeck were granted on April 8, 2002; and falsely
reported that options granted to Defendants Kotick, Kelly, and Doornink, were granted
on July 22, 2002; and

(h) Activision’s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on July 29, 2004, falsely
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reported that opﬁons granted to Defendants Chardavoyne, Rowe, and Steele were granted

on April 11, 2003. .

165. The Company, with the knowledge, approval, and participation of each of the
Individual Defendants, for the purpose and with the effect of concealing the improper option
backdating, filed with the SEC Form 3, Form 4, and Form 5 filings that falsely reported the dates
of the stock option grants to the Individua.l Defendants, as follows: .

(a) Chardavoyne’s Form 4s filed with the: SEC on June 11, 2001 and

November 13, 2001 falsely reported that options granted to Chardavoyne had been

granted on April 4, 2001;

(b) . Chardavoyne’s Form 4 filed with the SEC on November 13, 2001 falsely

reported that options granted to Chardavoyne had been granted on October 1, 2001;

(c) Chardavoyne’s Form 4 filed with the SEC on May 8, 2003 falsely reported _

that options granted to Chardavoyne had been granted on April 11, 2003;

(d)  Dewar’s Form 3 filed with the SEC on July 22, 1999 falsely reported that

options granted to Dewar had been granted on April 30, 1999;

(¢) Doomink’s Form 4 filed on March 12, 2001 falsely reported that options

granted to Doornink had been granted on April 30, 1999;

® Doomnink’s Form 4 filed on March 12, 2001 falsely reported that options

granted to Doormink had been, granted on April 18, 2000;

(2) Doornink’s Form 4s filed on June 11, 2001 and November 13, 2001

falsely reported that options granted to Doornink had been granted on April 4, 2001;

(h)‘ Doornink’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that

options granted. to Doornink had been granted on October 1, 2001;

(i) Doornink’s Forrr.l 5 filed on May 21, 2003 falsely reported that options

grantéd to Doornink had been granted on Apri} 8, 2002 and July 22, 2002;

) Doornink’s Form 4 filed on May 14, 2003 falsely reported that options

granted to Doornink had been granted on April 11, 2003; °

k) Goldberg’s Form 4 filed on October 7, 1999 falsely reported that options
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granted to Goldb.erg had been granted on March 24, 1998;

)] Goldberg’s Form 4 filed on September 8, 2000 falsely reported that
options granted to Goldberg had been granted on October 18, _1999 and April lé, 2000;

(m) Gofdberg’s Form 4s filed on June 11, 2001 and November 13, 2001
falsely reported that options granted to Goldberg had been granted on April 4, 2001;

(n)  Goldberg’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that
options granted to Goldberg had been granted on October 1,2001;

(0)  Goldberg’s Form 5 filed on May 14, 2003 falsely reported that options
granted to Goldberg had been granted on April 8, 2002;

(@) - Kelly’s Form 4 filed on October 8, 1999 falsely reported thatAoptions
granted to Kelly had been granted on April 30, 1999;

(@) Kelly’s Form 4 filed on March 12, 2001 falsely reported that options |
granted to Kelly had been granted on April 18, 2000;

(r) Kelly’s Form 5 filed on March 10, 2001 falsely reported that options

granted to Kelly had been granted on May 22, 2000;

(s) Kelly’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that options
granted to Kelly had been granted on April 4, 2001 and October 1, 2001;

() Kelly’s Form 4 filed on May 14, 2003 falsely reported that options granted
to Kelly had been granted on April 8, 2002 and July 22, 2002;

(u)  Kotick’s Form 4 filed on May 2, 2000 falsely reported that options granted
to Kotick had been granted on April 30, 1999;

(v)  Kofick’s Form 4 filed on April 10, 2001 falsely reported that options
granted to Kotick had been grar_lted on April 18, 2000 and May 22, 2000;

(W) Kotick’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that options
granfed to Kotick had been granted on April 4, 2001 and October 1, 2001;

(x)  Lasky’s Form 3 filed on September 3, 1999 falsely reported that options
granted to Lasky had been granted on December 20, 1996, May 15, 1997, March 24,
1998, and April 30,.1999;
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) I_;asky’s Form 4 filed on January 13, 2000 falsely reported that options
granted to Lasky had be.:en granted on October 18, 1999;

(2) Lasky’s Form 4 filed on January 4, 2001 fglsely reported that options
granted to Lasky had been granted on April 18, 2000;

(aa) Plaga’s Form 4 filed on April 12, 1999 falsely reported that options
granted to Plaga had been granted_ on March 24, 1998; |

(bb) Rowe’s Form 4s filed on September 6, 2000 and March 12, 2001 falsely
reported that options granted to Rowe had been granted on April 18, 2000;

(cc) Rowe’s Form 4s filed on June 11, 2001 and November 13, 2001 falsely
reported that options granted to Rowe had been granted on April 4, 2001; |

(dd) Rowe’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that options
granted to Rowe had been granted on October 1, 2001;

(ee) Rowe’s Form 4 filed on May 8, 2003 falsely reported that options granted
to Rowe had been granted on April 11, 2003;

(fff  Steele’s Form 3 filed on July 22, 1999 -falsely reported that options
granted to Steele had been granted on.April 30, 1999;

(gg) Steele’s Form 4s filed on August 9, 2000 and September 7, 2000 falsely
reported that options granted to Steele had been granted on April 18, 2000;

(hh)  Steele’s Form.4s filed on June 11, 2001 and November 13, 2001 falsely
reported that options granted to Steele had been granted on April 4, 2001;

(i1) Steele’s Form 4 filed on May 9, 2003 falsely reported that options granted
to Steele Had been granted on April 11, 2003;

Gy - _Vrabeck’s Form 4s filed on September 6, 2000 and March 12, 2001 falsely
reported that options granted to Vrabeck had been granted on April 18, 2000;

" (kk) Vrabeck’s Form 4s filed on June 11, 2001 and November 13, 2001 falsely

reported that options granted to Vrabeck had been granted on April 4, 2001; and

(1)  Vrabeck’s Form 4 filed on November 13, 2001 falsely reported that

options granted to Vrabeck had been granted on October 1, 2001.
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166. The Individual Defendants continued to conceal their foregoing misconduct until
this action was commenced.

ACTIVISION’S FALSE FINANCIAL REPORTING IN VIOLATION OF GAAP

167. As a result of Defendants’ improper backdating and mispricing of stock options,
Defendants caused Activision to violate GAAP, SEC regulations, and Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) rules and regulations. |

168. Activision's annual and quarterly financial results for fiscal year 1996 through
fiscal year 2006 were included in reports filed with the SEC and in other shareholder reports. In
these reports, Defendants represented that Activision's financial results were presented in a fair
manner and in accordance with GAAP. |

169. Defendants® representations were false -and misleading as to the financial
information reported as such financial information was not prepared in conformity with GAAP, |
nor was the financial information “a fair presentation” of the Company's financial condition and
operations, causing the financial results to be presented in violation of GAAP and SEC rules.

170. GAAP consists of those principles recognized by tlie accounting profession as the
conventions, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at the |
particular time. Regulation S-X, to which the Company is subject as a registrant under the
Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 210.4-01(a)(1), provides that financial statements filed with the SEC,
which are not prepared in compliance with GAAP, are presumed to be misleading and

inaccurate.

Violations Of GAAP

171. As a result of Defendants’ improper pricing and backdating of stock dptions,
Defendants caused-Activision to unders_tate its compensation expense by not properly accounting
for its stock options under GAAP and thus overstate the Company’s net earnings.

172. Under well-settled accounting principles, Activision did not need to record an
expense for options granted to employees at the current market price (“at the money”). The
Company was, however, required to record an expense in its financial statements for any options

granted below the current. market price (“in the money”). In order to provide Activision
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executives and employeés with far more lucrative “in the money” options, while avoiding having
to inform shareholders about millions of dollars incurred by the Company in compensation
expenses (and without paying the IRS millions of dollars in emp.loyment taxes), Defendants
systematically falsified Company records to create the false appearance that options had been
granted at the market price on an earlier date.

173. Activision has publicly agknowledged that it accounted for stock options using
the intrinsic method described in APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”
Under APB No. 25, employers were required to record as an expense on their financial
statements the “intrinsic value” of a fixed stock option on its “measurement date.” An option
that is in—the—rnqney on the measurement date has intrinsic value, and the difference beﬁveen its
exercise price and the quoted market price must be recorded as compensation expense to be
recognized over the vesting period of the option. Options that are at-the-money or out-of-the- |
money on the measurement date need not be expensed. Excluding non-employee directors, APB
No. 25 required employers to record compensation expenses on options granted to non-
employees irrespective of whether they were in-the-money or not on the date of grant.

Activision's GAAP Violations Were Material

174. Activision’s false and misleading statements and omissions regarding its
accounting were material, particularly in light of SEC guidance on materiality. SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic IM, Materiality, summarizes GAAP definitions of
materiality. Among other items, SAB Topic IM says: “A matter is ‘material’ if there is a
substantial likelihood that a reasonable person would consider it important.” It also stresses that
materiality requir;:s qualitative, as well as quantitative, considerations. For example, if a known
misstatement would cause a significant market reaction, that reaction should be taken into
account in determining the materiality of the misstatement.

175.  SAB Topic 1M further states:

Among the -considerations that may well render material a
quantitatively small misstatement of a financial statement item are

* * *
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whether the misstatement masks a change in earnings or other
trends; whether-the misstatement hides a failure to meet analysts'
consensus expectations for the enterprise;

* * *
whether the misstatement concerns a segment or otlfer portion of

the registrant's business that has been identified as playing a
significant role in the registrant's operations or profitability.
176. SAB Topic IM also says that an intentional misstatement of even immaterial
items may be illegal and constitute fraudulent financial reporting.
177. Activision’s misstatements, by its own admissions, satisfy these criteria and thus

were material from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective.

Activision's Financial Statements Violated Fundamental Concepts Of GAAP

178. Due to these accounting improprieties, Activision presented its financial results
and statements in a manner that violated GAAP, which are described by the following

statements:

a. The principle that ‘interim financial reporting should be
based upon the same accounting principles and practices
used to prepare annual financial statements (APB No. 28,

110);

b. The principle that financial reporting should provide
information that is useful to existing and potential investors
and creditors and other users in making rational investment,
credit and similar decisions (Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Concepts No. 1,

134);

c. The principle that- financial reporting should provide
information about the economic resources of an enterprise,
the claims to those resources, and the effects of -
transactions, events and circumstances that change
resources and claims to those resources (FASB Statement
of Concepts No. 1, §40);

d. The principle that financial reporting should provide
information about how management of an enterprise has
discharged its stewardship responsibility to stockholders for
the use of enterprise resources entrusted to it. To the extent
that management offers securities of the enterprise to the
public, it voluntarily accepts wider responsibilities for
accountability to prospective investors and to the public in
general (FASB Statement of Concepts No. 1, 150);

/11
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e. The principle that financial reporting should be reliable in
that it represents what it purports to represent (FASB
Statement of Concepts No. 2, §958-59); -

f. The principle of completeness, which means that nothing is
left. out of the information that may be necessary to insure
that it validly represents underlying events and conditions
(FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, §79); and

g. The principle that conservatism be used as a prudent
reaction to uncertamty to try to ensure that uncertainties
and risks inherent in business situations are adequately
considered (FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, 95, 97).

179. Further, the undisclosed adverse information concealed by Defendants is the type
of information which, because of SEC regulations, regulations of the national stock exchanges
and customary business practice, is expected by investors and securities analysts to be disclosed
and is knewn by corporate officials and their legal and financial advisors to be the type of

information which is expected to be and must be disclosed.

ACTIVISION'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS VIOLATED SEC REGULATIONS

180. As a result of Defendants’ improper pricing and backdating of stock options,
Defendants caused Activision to violate SEC regulations by failing to disclose that the
Company’s senior executives had been improperly granted stock options and additional,
undisclosed compensation. |

181. Under SEC Regulations, Item 8 of Form 14-A and Item 11 of Form 10-K, an
issuer must furnish information required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K [17 C.F.R. § 229.303].
Ttem 402(b) and (c) require a company to provide both a Summary Compensation Table and an
Option/SAR GTagts table identifying the compensation of the named executive officers - the
Company's CEO and its next four most highly paid executives. Item 402 requires particularized
disclosures involving a company’s stock option grants in the last fiscal year. In the summary
compensation table, the ‘issuer must identify in a column “other annual compensation” received
by the naméd executives that is not properly categorized as salary or bonus, including any
“[albove market or preferential earnings on restricted stock, options, SARs or deferred
compensation” paid to the officer during the period. Item 402.(b)(2)(iii)(C)(2). In the option

grant table, the issuer must ideﬁtify in a column “[t]he per-share exercise or base price of the
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options . . .. If such exercise or base price is less than the market price of the underlying security
on the date of grant, a separat;e, adjoining column shall be added showing market price on the
date of grant . . . .” Item 402(c)(2)(iv).

182. Defendants caused Activision to violate SEC regulations by failing to disclose
that the Company's named executive officers had been granted options with exercise prices

below the market value on the date the Board or Compensation Committee approved the grant.

VIOLATIONS OF IRS RULES AND REGULATIONS

183. As a result of Defendants' improper backdating of stock options, Defendants
further caused Activision to violate IRS rules and regulations due to its improper accounting for
the improperly priced and backdated stock options. As a result, the Company's tax liabilities
were understated, exposing Activision to potential amounts owed for back taxes, penalties and
interest to the IRS for improperly reporting compensation.

184. Defendants caused the Company to violate IRS Code § 162(m), which generally
limits a publicly traded company's tax deductions for compensation paid to each of its named
executive officers to $1 million unless the pay is determined to be “performance-based.” In
order for compensation to be performance-based; the Compensation Committee must have set
pre-established and objective performance goals. The goals must then be approved by the
shareholders. Section 162(m) defines stock options as performance-based provided they are
issued at an exercise price that is no less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of the
grant. Accordingly, properly issued stock options do not have to be taken into account in
calculating whether an executive’s compensation has exceeded the $1 million compensation cap.

185. Seétion 162(m), known as the $1 million rule, was enacted in 1993 in order to tie
top executives’ soaring pay packages more closely to a company’s performance. This change in
the tax law turned compensation pract.ices for a company’s top executives away from straight
salary-based compensation to performance-based _compensation, including stock options.
According to former SEC Chairman Harvey Pitt: “What [162[m]] did was create incentives to
find other forms of compensation so people could get over thé¢ $1 million threshold without

running afoul of the code.”
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186. Defendaﬁts caused Activision to violate IRS Code § 162(m) by providing
improperly priced and backda.ted options to the Company’s, named executive officers, which
were granted with exercise prices that were less than the fair market value of the stock on the
date of the grant. As a result all of the income resulting from the exercise of the options must be
included for purposes of calculating whether the named executive’s compensation exceeds the $1
million cap for federal tax purposes. .

187. Defendants further caused the Company to violate IRS rules and regulations in
order to avoid having to withhold income and FICA tax from its executives and employees upen
the exercise of Activision’s stock options by improperly accounting for its Nonqualified Stock
Options (“NSOs”) as Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”). .

188. ISOs are a form of equity compensation that may be provided to a company’s
employees. ISOs are required to be vgragted at an exercise price that is no less than the fair |
market value of thé stock on the date of the grant and are entitled to preferential tax treatment as.
they are not subject to income tax upon exercise of the options but only upon sale of the stock
(except for the possible imposition of alternative minimum tax on the option spread at the time of
exercise). Stock options that do not qualify as ISOs are considered to be NSOs. NSOs are not
entitled to preferential treatment as they are subject to income tax and FICA withholding upon
exercise. As a result, a company that fails to withhold income tax and/or FICA upon the exercise
of NSOs by its employees would be liable for the amount of the income tax and FICA that the
company failed to withhold upon exercise of the options, in addition to interest and penalties.

189. By improperly treating its improperly priced and backdated options as ISOs,
Defendants failed’ to provide proper income tax and FICA withholdings upon the exercise of its
options by its executiv.es and employees in violation of IRS rules and regulations.

190. The chart below illustrates Activision’s false and misleading fiscal financial
results which materially understated its compensation expenses and thus overstated its earnings:
11/

11/
vy
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1995 (1,520) (11)
1996 5,530 . 037
1997 7,107 0.49
1998 5,827 0.31
1999 12,254 0.69
2000 (34,088) ~ (L.38)
2001 - 20,507 0.82
2002 52,238 1.03
2003 66,180 0.69
2004 77,715 0.58
2005 138,335 0.74

INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS’ INSIDER SELLING

191. Since 2001, certain of the Individual Defendants, while in possession of
materially adverse non-public informatiorll regarding the backdating of stock options and the
7 false financial statements resulting therefrom, sold more than $357 million in Activision stock, a
significant portion of which was obtained through the exercise of improperly priced and

backdated stock options, as demonstrated below: .

_Date Of Sales hares Sold ceeds($)

10/24/01-6/1/05 628,944 12,605,858.08
Doornink 11/14/01-11/4/05 2,771,636 59,659,587.58
Goldberg 10/24/01-6/8/04 530,575 11,739,057.24
Henderson 12/11701-8/3/05 85,000 1,833,000.00
Isgur 2/22/02-2/9/05 181,250 4,545,343.65
Kelly 10/24/01-2/9/05 4,280,000 116,080,745.25
Kotick 10/24/01-9/15/05 4,197,569 109,783,325.84
Mayer 1/31/02-1/2/04 96,983 2,175,757.91
Morgado 2/9/05 100,000 2,306,000
Rowe . 10/23/01-8/9/06 401,420 9,293,870.04
Steele . 12/11/01-8/2/05 415,425 9,298,698.25
Vrabeck 11/6/01-6/1/05 881,197 18,257,625.00
TOTALS 10/23/01-8/9/06 14,569,999 357,578,868.84

192. A significant portion of these proceeds from stock sales were obtained through the
exercise of improperly priced and backdated stock options. Defendants exercised certain of their

improperly priced and backdated stock options described herein and, on the same date or shortly
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thereafter, sold those 6ptions at the then-market price of Activision’s common stock. A
samplingi of publicly available records reveals that Defendants Kelly, Kotick, Doornink,
Goldberg, and Chardavoyne have realized at least $31.7 million by exercising and selling a

portion of their improperly priced and backdated options, as demonstrated below:

Brian G. Kelly 600,000 $15.595,029
Robert Kotick : 403,500 $9.106,710
Ronald Doornink 189.464 $3.831,969
Lawrence Goldberg 199,594 $2.567.159
William Chardavoyne 46,995 $623,279

TOTAL $31.724.147

193. At the time of the stock sales set forth above, the Individual Defendants péssessed
knowledge of the backdating scheme, which was adverse material non-public information, and
sold Activision common stock on the basis of such information.

194. Under California law, the Individual Defendants were not permitted to trade on

this information without first disclosing the backdating scheme to the public.

DERIVATIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

195. Co-Lead Plaintiffs bring this action derivatively on behalf and for the benefit of
Activision to redress injuries suffered, and yet to be suffered, by the Company as a direct and
proximate result of the breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, and other legal violations
alleged herein. Activision continues to be harmed, and has yet to be fully and completely
harmed, by the backdating and improper pricing scheme that occurred. Activision is named as a
nominal defendant solely in a derivative capacity.

196. Thé wrongful acts complained of herein subject, and will persist in subjecting, the
Company to continuing harm because the adverse consequences of the injurious actions are still
in effect.

197. ~ Co-Lead Plaintiffs are shareholders _ of Activision common stock who will
adequately and fairly represent the interests of the Company and its shareholders in enforcing
and prosecuting its rights. Co-Lead Plaintiffs intend to retain shares in Activision throughout the

duration of this litigation.
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198. Co-LeadAPlainti.ffs were shareholders at the time of the transactions or any part
thereof. Co-Lead Plaintiff Amalgamated Bank has owned Activision stock continuously since
March 2002. Co-Lead Plaintiff Ryan Vazquez has owned Activision stock continuc;usly since
May 21, 2002.

199. In addition, Co-Lead Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of Activision because:

(1) There is a strong prima facie case in favor of the claims asserted on behalf
of the corporation;

(i)  No other similar action against the same defendants covering the same
stock option grants and claims has been or is likely to be instituted;

(iii) - Co-Lead Plaintiffs acquired the shares before there was disclosul;e to the
public or to Co-Lead Plaintiffs of the wrongdoing of which Co-Lead Plaintiffs complain;

(iv)  Unless the action can be maintained, the Individual Defendants retain a |
gain derived from the Individual Defendants’ willful breach of fiduciary duties; and

V) The requested relief will not result in unjust enrichment of Activision or
any shareholder of Activision.

200. The wrongful actions complained-of herein were fraudulently concealed from
Activision’s shareholders. The first public information about Activision’s backdating scheme
came on June 19, 2006, when Janco Partners raised questions about Activision’s option granting
practices. A reasonable shareholder would not have discovered the wrongdoing earlier. Co-

Lead Plaintiffs purchased shares prior to thé disclosure of any wrongdoing.

DEMAND EXCUSED ALLEGATIONS

201. Co.-Lead Plaintiffs have not made a demand on the Activision Board to institute
this action against Defendants in conpection with the wrongs alleged herein. Such demand
would be futile and useless, and is thereby excused, because the Board is incapable of making an
independent and disinterested decision to institute and vigorously prosecute this action.

202. Backdating options qualifies as an instance in which a transaction is so egregious
on its face that Board approval cannot meet the test of business judgment, and a substantial

likelihood of director liability therefore exists. The fact that Activision restated its financials on
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May 25, 2007 further sﬁppoﬂs. director liability. Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims, as alleged herein,
raise a reason to doubt the disinterestedness of the current Board and confirm that they are
incapable of impartially considering demand. .

203. Demand is excused because a majority of the directors are not independent and
disinterested with respect to considering the demand. On July 12, 2006, Co-Lead Plaintiffs first
commenced this action. At that time, the Activision Board consistéd of a total of eight directors.
Six of these directors are named herein as Director Defendants and include: Defendants Kotick,
Kelly, Doornink, Isgur, Morgado, and Corti. As alleged herein, in gross breach of their fiduciary
duties as officers and/or directors of Activisidn, these six Director Defendants colluded with one
another and the Individual Defendants to: |

(a) improperly backdate stock option grants, in violation of the

Company’s shareholder approved stock option plans;

(b) ’ improperly issue stock options at below fair market price as
required by Activision’s shareholder approved stock option plans, amounting to

ultra vires acts beyond the scope of the authorized and legitimate powers of the

Company;

(c) improperly record and account for the improperly priced and
backdated stock options, in violation of GAAP; |

(d) improperly take tax deductions based on the improperly priced and
backdated stock options, in violation of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue

Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(m); and

(e) produce and disseminate to Activision shareholders and the market

false financial statements and other false SEC filings that improperly recorded

and accounted for the improperly priced and backdated option grants and

conce;aled the improper backdating of stock options. |

204. Accordingly, a demand upon these Director Defendants would be futile and
useless because they have incentive to conceal, rather than expose, the truth regarding

Activision’s historical stock optibn grant practices and policies. In support of the wrongs alleged
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herein, Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ allegations include specific backdated grants, specific language in
option plans, specific public disclosures, and supporting empirical analysis to allege knowing
and purposeful violations of shareholder plans. These facts, as alleged herein, provide. sufficient
particularity to establish that making a demand upon Activision’s Board to initiate this litigation
would have been futile.

205. In addition, Defendants Kptick, Kelly, Doornink, Iégm, Morgado, and Corti are
incapable of independently and disinterestedly considering a demand to commence and
vigorously prosecute this action because:

(a) Defendant Kotick has been the CEO and Chairman of the Board

of Directprs .of Activision since February 1991. Kotick has owned between 4.6%
and 10.8% of Activision’s outstanding shares. - Defendant Kotick personally
received at least 3,355,974 backda’ged stock options between December 20, 1996
and July 22, 2002. Defendant Kotick also received millions of dollars in salary,
bonuses, and other forms of compensation, and received loans totaling $1.2
million from the Company, with approval from the Board and its Compensation
Committee. The value of Defendant Kotick’s exercisable in-the-money options
as stated in a recent Activision Proxy Statement was approximately $81.8 million
and the value of his unexercisable in-the-money stock options was approximately
$5.3 miilion. Publicly available records reveal that Defendant Kotick realized at
least $9,106,710 by exercising and then selling a portion of his backdated options.
In addition, Defendant Kotick realized at least $109,783,325.84 by selling shares
of Activision common stock, including shares obtained through the exercise of
improperly -pn'ged and backdated stock options, while in possession of materially
adverse non-public information.

' (b)  Defendant Kelly has been a director since 1995 and Co-Chairman

of the Company since 1998. Kelly has previously served as President, COO,
CFO, and Secretary of the Company. Defendant Kelly has held between 4.0%

and 11.7% of the Company’s outstanding shares: Kelly personally received at
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least 3,867,974 backdated stock options between December 20, 1996 and July 22,
2002. Defendant Kellg' also received millions of dollars in salary, bonuses, and
other forms of compensation, and received Company loans in excess of “$1
million, with Board and Compensation Committee apprc;val. The value of
Defendant Kelly’s exercisable in-the-money options as stated in a recent
Activision Proxy Statement was approximately $76.3 million and the value of his
unexercisable in-the-money stock options was approximately $6.4 million.
Publicly available records reveal that Defendant Kelly has realized at least
$15,595,029 by exercising and then selling a portion of his backdated options. In
addition, Defendant Kelly realized at least $116,080,745.25 by selling shares of
Ac_tivisién common stock, including shares obtained through the exercise of
improperly priced and backdated s.tock options, while in possession of materially
adverse non-public information.

() Defendant Doornink has been Senior Advisor and director of the

Company since April 2003. Doornink has previously held-other executive officer
positions with the Company since October 1998. Defendant Doornink personally
received at least 1,435,481 backdated stock options between April 30, 1999 and
April 11, 2003. Defendant Doornink also received millions of dollars in salary,
bonuses, and other forms of compensation, and received Company loans in excess
of $420,000, with Board and Compensation Committee approval. The value of
Defendant Doornink’s exercisable in-the-money options as stated in a recent
Activisioﬁ Proxy Statement was approximately $10.8 million and the value of his
unexercisable in-the-money stock options was approximately $9.4 million.
Publicly available records re\./eal that Defendant Doornink realized at least
$3,831,969 by exercising and then selling a Rortion of his backdated options. In
addition, Defendant Doomnink realized at least $59,659,587.58 by selling shares of
Activision common stock, including shares obtained through the exercise of

improperly priced and backdated stock options, while in possession of materially
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adverse non-public information.

(d)  Defendant Isgur has been a director of the Company since 1991

and has served on the Compensation Committee since at least 1995. A-s a
member of the Compensation Committee and a director, Defendant Isgur
knowingly approved of the backdated stock option grants and ultra vires acts as
alleged herein. During fiscal years 1996 through 1998, the Compensation
Committee was composed of only two members: Defendants Isgur and Mayer.
Defendant Isgur also served on the Board’s Audit Committee since at least 1995.
Isgur served as the Chair of the Audit Committee in 2002 and 2003. As a
member of ‘the Audit Committee and a director, Defendant Isgur knowingl};
approved of the false and misleading SEC filings and Proxy Statements sent to
Activision’s shareholders, which concealed the Company’s backdating practices.
In addition, Defendant Isgur realized at least $4,545,343.65 by selling shares of
Activision common stock while in possession of materially adverse non-public
information.

(e) Defendant Morgado has been a director of the Company since

- February 1997 and has been a member of the Compensation Committee since

June 1998. As a member of the Compensation Committee and a director,
Defendant Morgado knowingly approved of the backdated stock option grants and
ultra vires acts as Malleged herein. Defendant Morgado joined the Audit
Committee in 2004. As a member of the Audit Committee and a director,
Defendant Morgado knowingly approved of false and misleading SEC filings and
Proxy Statements sent to A_ctivision’s shareholders, which concealed the
Company’s backdating practices. In addition, Defendant Morgado realized at
least'$2,306,000 by selling shares of Activision common stock while in

possession of materially adverse non-public information.

(f)  Defendant Corti joined the Board in December of 2003. As

Chairman of the Board’s Audit Committee, Corti signed the Company’s false and
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misleading 2004 Form 10-K that included the April 11, 2003 backdated option

grants. As a member‘of the Audit Committee and 3 director, Defendant Corti

knowingly approved of false and misleading SEC filings and Proxy Statements

sent to Activisioni’s shareholders, which concealed the Cc;mpany’s backdating

practices.

206. Demand is futile because the granting of backdated stock options is not a valid
exercise of business judgment. The stock option grants as alleged herein raise reason to doubt
whether the option grants were a valid exercise of business judgment by the Director Defendants.
Specifically, the terms of the stock option plans required that the exercise price of each option
could not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the grant date. Accdrdingly,
the Board had n;) discretion to contravene the terms of the.stock option plans. Altering the actual
date of the grants so as to affect the exerci§e prices contravenes the plans. The Board’s knowing .
and intentional décision to exceed the shareholders’ grant of express (but limited) authority

raises doubt regarding whether such decision is a valid exercise of business judgment and is

.sufficient to excuse a failure to make demand.

207. The backdating of Activision stock-options supports demand futility because such
conduct is not a valid exercise of business judgment. As alleged herein, 15 option grants over a
seven year period were granted at the lowest price for the 20-day period after the grant date. In
addition to the highly suspicious timing of these grants, empirical evidence, such as the Janco
Report previously discussed, supports Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims that backdating occurred. The
fact that the Board granted options, not at set or designated times, but by a sporadic method as
alleged herein, further supports the improper backdating claims. Additionally, Activision’s own
public statements,.as alleged in detail herein, further support the allegations that backdating
occurred. Finally, bac;kdating allegatic;ns and demand futility are supported by the fact that the
Board ignore'd_ ﬁmitations set out in the Company’s §tock option plans. The plans do not grant
the Board discretion to alter the exercise price by falsifying the date on which options were
granted. As alleged herein, the Director Defendants repeatedly violated an express provision of

the option plans and exceeded the shareholders” grant of express authority.
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208. The Director Defendants knew the stock options alleged herein were backdated.
The grants were approved by t-he Board which should have been aware of the date of the options
as well as the date on which they actually approved a grant. As directors of a Delaware
corporation, the Director Defendants knew or should have known tl.lat backdating stock options
violated their duty of loyalty because lying to shareholders is inconsistent with loyalty, which
necessarily requires good faith.

209. The Director Defendants .face substantial liability for approving the improperly
priced and backdated stock options. The Director Defendants lied to their shareholders regarding
their violations of the shareholder approved plans and, therefore, cannot satisfy their duty of
loyalty. '

210. In short, a majority of current Activision directors suffer from irreconcilable
conflicts of interest arising from the backflating scheme, including acquiescing to or personally _
benefiting from the scheme, and as such, cannot adequately assess or review a demand related
fhereto from the standpoint of the Company’s best interests.

Activision’s Special Sub-Committee

211.  On July 28, 2006, Activision purpertedly formed a “Special Sub-Committee” of
the Board in response to Co-Lead Plaintiff’s complaint filed on July 12, 2006. Activision has not
publicly disclosed the identity of the members of the Special Sub-Committee. Co-Lead Plaintiffs
are informed and believe that Defendant Corti and non-defendant director Richard Sarnoff are
the only members of the two-person Special Sub-Committee. As described above, Defendant
Corti is conflicted and unable to independently serve on the Special Sub-Committee
investigating the Company’s historical stock option grant practices.

212. The. Special Sub-Committee is ineffective and conflicted because it ultimately
answers to the conﬂict;ad and interest,ed.Board of Activision.

213. " The purported investigation by the S.pecial Sub-Committee has been a secret
process. On February 28, 2007, Co-Lead Plaintiffs sent a request to the law firm of Munger,
Tolles & Olson LLP, counsel for the Special Sub-Committee, to meet with the Special Sub-

Committee to discuss Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ claims. Co-Lead Plaintiffs have not received any
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response to their reque.st. In addition, Co-Lead Plaintiffs repeatedly requested documents,
including those purportedly reviewed by the Special Sub-Committee, from Activision.
Defendants have refused to produce any documents to Co-Lead Plaintiffs, despite épparently
producing documents to the SEC.

214. On March 8, 2007, after nearly eight months since the commencement of this
action, Activision announced that the Spegial Sub-Committee repofted “its principal findings and
resulting recommendations to the full board.” Notably, the Special Sub-Committee reported its
findings and recommendations to the full Board, which, as explained above, is not independent
and disinterested.

215. While the Special Sub-Committee’s unpublished report purportedly sets forth
various “recommendations” and purported “plans” to change Activision’s corporate governance
policies, the Special Sub-Committee and the Board have not taken legal action against the '-
Defendants or expressly revealed the specific recommended changes. Based upon the |
Company’s public disclosures, the recommendations do not go far enough to remedy the damage

inflicted upon Activision by Defendants.

TOLLING OF THE STATUE OF LIMITATIONS

216. The Causes of Action alleged herein are timely. Defendants wrongfully
concealed their manipulation of the stock option grants as described herein.

217. Activision’s public inyestors had no reason to know of the Defendants’ breaches

| of their fiduciary duties until at least June 2006, when Janco Partners, Inc. published its analyst

report detailing the option backdating practices of Activision. Further, as set forth herein, the
information that v;ras public until that time was false and misleading.

218.  As fiduciaries of Activision and its public shareholders, the Defendants cannot
rely on any limitations defense where they withheld from Activision’s public shareholders the
facts that giv;: rise to the claims asserted herein.

11/
111
/17
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
For Breach Of Fiduciary Duty

(Against the Individual Defendants)

219. Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as though fully set forth herein.

220. The Individual Defendan?s, by reason of their pbsitions as fiduciaries of the
Company, owed duties of due care, undivided loyalty, honesty, fair play, fair dealing, good faith,
and truthful disclosure. Each of the Individual Defendants had a fiduciary duty to refrain from
unduly benefiting themselves and other Company insiders at the expense of Activision. The
Individual Defepdants violated and breached these duties, as alleged in detail herein.

221. As alleged herein, the Officer Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by
colluding with one another and the Director Defendants to:

(a) improperly backdate stock option grants, in violation of the

Company’s shareholder approved stock option plans;

() improperly issue stock options at below- fair market price as
required by Activision’s shareholder approved stock option plans, amounting to

ultra vires acts beyond the scope of the authorized and legitimate powers of the

Company;

(c) improperly record and account for the improperly priced and
backdated stock options, in violation of GAAP;

(d) improperly take tax deductions based on the improperly priced and
backdated stock options, in violation of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue

Code, 26 U.S.C_J. § 162(m); and

(e) produce and disseminate to Activision shareholders and the market

false financial statements and other false SEC filings that improperly recorded

and accounted for -the improperly priced and backdated option grants and

concealed the improper backdating of stock options.

/11
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222. The Ofﬁéer Defendants’ foregoing misconduct was not, and could not have been,
an exercise of good faith business judgment. Rather, it was intended to, and did, unduly benefit
themselves at the expense of the Company. .

223. FEach Director Defendant received, approved, ratified or was otherwise
responsible for permitting the improperly priced and backdated options to be granted. The
Director Defendants, particularly those .directors who were members of the Compensation

Committee during the period that the improperly priced and backdated options were granted,

‘each abandoned and abdicated their fiduciary responsibilities to the Company. As such, each

Director Defendant failed to act (1) in good faith; (2) with the care an ordinarily prudent person
in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and (3) in accordance with a
reasonable_belief that their conduct was in the best interest.of the Company.

224. As alleged herein, the Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by

colluding with oneanother and the Officer Defendants to:

(a) improperly . backdate stock option grants, in violation of the
Company’s shareholder approved stock option plans;

(b) improperly issue stock options at below fair market price as
required by Activision’s shareholder approved stock option plans, amounting to
ultra vires acts beyond the scope of the authorized and legitimate powers of the
Company;

(c) improperly record and account for the improperly priced and .
backdated stock options, in violation of GAAP;

(d). improperly take tax deductions based on the improperly priced
and backdated. stock options, in violation of Section 162(m) of the Internal .
Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(m); and

" (© produce and disseminate to Act.ivision shareholders and the market
false financial statements and other false SEC filings that iniproperly recorded -
and accounted for the improperly priced and backdated option grants and

concealed the improper backdating of stock options.
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225. The Director Defendants’ foregoing misconduct was not, and could not have
been, an exercise of good fait].l business judgment. Rather, it was intended to, and did, unduly
benefit the Officer Defendants at the expense of the Company.

226. As a direct and proximate result of the Individual Def:endants’ breach of fiduciary
duty and waste of corporate assets, the Company has sustained, and will continue to sustain,
substantial harm.

227. The Individual Defendants are liable to Activision as a result of the acts alleged
herein.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

For Aiding And Abetting A Breach Of Fiduciary Duty

(Against the Individual Defendants)

228.  Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as though fully set forth herein.

229. By reason of their positions as fiduciaries of the Company, the Individual
Defendants owed duties of due care, undivided loyalty, good faith, and truthful disclosure. The
Individual Defendants violated and breached these duties.

230. By virtue of their role with regard to the backdated stock options and wifra vires
option graﬁts alleged herein, each Individual Defendant aided and abetted one another in their
breach of fiduciary duty.

231.  As a direct and proximate result of the Individual Defendants’ aiding and abetting
one another’s breach of fiduciary duty, the Company has sustained, and will continue to sustain,
substantial harm. .

232. The Individual Defendants are liable to the Company as a result of the acts |

alleged herein.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
For Ultra Vires Acts

(Against the Individual Defendants)

233. Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
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contained above as thoﬁgh fully set forth herein.

234. Pursuant to California Corporations Code Sections 207 and 208, the agreements
and transactions described above and any other unauthorized agreements and transactions should
be declared invalid, void, and rescinded in full as ultra vires acts, as they were beyond the scope
of the authorized and legitimate powers of the Company, and in violation of Individual
Defendants’ authority. ' .

235. The Individual Defendants should be enjoined from conducting any further
activities which are injurious to the Company and should pay all damages and/or losses suffered
by the Company as a result of the ultra vires transactions and violations of their authority.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Unjust Enrichment

(Against the Officer Defendants)
236. Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as though fully set forth herein.
237. As a direct and proximate result of the acts alleged herein, the Officer Defendants
wrongfully deprived the Company of substantial wealth and were unjustly enriched thereby.
238. The Officer Defendants are liable to the Company as a result and should be
required to disgorge their unjust gains and return them to the Company.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Waste
(Against the Director Defendants)

239. Cé-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as thqugh fully set forth herein. |

240. As a result of their conduct as alleged above, and by failing to properly consider
the interests of Activision and its shareholders, the I?irector Defendants have caused Activision
to waste valuable corporate -assets by backdating options, making ultra vires option grants, and
by incurring potentially millions of dollars of legal liability and costs to defend their unlawful

actions.

SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT -85-




O 00 9 N Wn s

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

18 ||

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

DO/00/2007 08:41 FIRST LEGAI SUPPORT FAX (213)250-1127

241. Asa result of the waste of corporate assets from their u/fra vires acts, the Director
Defendants are liable to the Cc-)mpany. Further, the unlawful ,conduct alleged herein constitutes
ultra vires acts that are not protected under the business judgment rule. .

242. Co-Lead Plaintiffs, on behalf of Activision, have no adequate remedy at law.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Rescission

(Against the Officer Defendants)

243. Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as though fully set forth herein.

244. As a result of the acts alleged herein, all stock option contracts between the
Officer Defendants and Activision entered into from at least fiscal year 1996 through fiscal year
2006, were obtained through the Ofﬁcqr Defendants’ fraud, deceit, and abuse of control. )
Further, the backdated stock options, the wltra vires option grants, and the shares underlying
these options were not duly authorized by the Board, as was legally required, because they were
not authorized in accordance with the terms of the publicly filed contracts—including the
relevant stock option plans and the Officer Defendants’ employment agreements—approved by
Activision shareholders and filed with the SEC.

245.  All stock option contracts between the Officer Defendants and Activision entered |
into during fiscal years 1996 through 2006 should, therefore, be rescinded, with all sums paid
under such contracts returned to the Company, and all such executory contracts cancelled and |

declared void.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Insider Trading (Cal. Corp. Code § 25402)

(Against the Individual Defendants)
246. Co-Lead Plaintiffs incorporate by refer.ence and reallege each and every allegation
contained above as though fully set forth herein.
247. The Individual Defendants, by reason of their relationship with the Company as

officers of the Company, had access, directly or indirectly, to material information about the
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Company not generally available to the public.

248. The Individual. Defendants knowingly used. material information about the
Company, not generally available to the public, to facilitate the bacl.cdating of stock o.ptions and
the making of ultra vires stock option grants by the Company in the state of California.

249. The Individual Defendants knowingly used their positions at the Company to
avail themselves of non-public informati.on to facilitate backdatiﬁg of Activision securities for
their own personal gain in a manner not available to the public.

250. The Individual Defendants purchased (through their acquisition and/or exercise-of
backdated stock options) Activision securities with actual knowledge that the value of these
securities was inflated as a result of backdating, in violation of Section 25402 of the Célifornia
Corporations Code.

251. The Individual Defendants are liable to the Company for damages pursuant to |
Section 25502.5 of the California Corporations Code.

WHEREFORE, Co-Lead Plaintiffs'demand judgment as follows:

| ) Awarding to the Company money damages against all Individual
Defendants, jointly and severally, for all losses and damages suffered as a
result of the acts and transactions complained of herein;

(i)  Awarding to the Company restitution from each of the Officer Defendants
and ordering djsgorgement of all profits, benefits, and other compensation
obtained by the Officer Defendants as a result of the acts and transactions
complained of herein;

(iii) Rescission of all option contracts granted to the Officer Defendants as a
{esult of the acts and transactions complained of herein and the
cancellation, nullification, and declaration as void of any and all current or
future obligations of the Company under all executory contracts obtained
by the Officer Defendants as a result of the acts and transactions

complained of herein;
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(iv)  Formation of a constructive trust to hold all executory option contracts
issued to the Officer Defendants;

(v)  Awarding punitive damages against the Individual Defendantsi

(vi) A;Narding damages pursuant to California Corporations Code Sections
25402 and 25502.5;

(vil) Awarding to Co-Lead Plaintiffs the costs and disbursements of the action,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, accountants’ and experts’ fees, costs,
and expenses; and

(viii) Granting such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Co-Lead Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: July 13, 2007 BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER
& GROSSMANN LLP

Charnd R- Shekran e

DAVID R. STICKNEY(}/ °

DAVID R. STICKNEY

BRETT M. MIDDLETON
MATTHEW P. SIBEN

TAKEO A. KELLAR

12481 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300
San Diego, CA 92130

Tel:  (858) 793-0070

Fax: (858)793-0323

" Lead Counsel for Co-Lead Plaintiff Amalgamated
Bank

SCHIFFRIN BARROWAY
TOPAZ & KESSLER, LLP

ERICL. ZAGAR

MICHAEL J. HYNES

JAMES A. MARO

280 King of Prussia Road

Radnor, PA 19087

Tel:  (610) 667-7706

Fax: (610) 667-7056

Lead Counsel for Co-Lead Plaintiff Ryan Vazquez
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PROOF OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, declare:
That declarant is and was, at all times herein mentioned, a citizen of the United States and

a resident of the County of San Diego, over the age of 18 years, and nota party to or interested in

| the within action; that declarant’s business address is 12481 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300, San

Diego, California 92130.

That on July 13, 2007, declarant caused the foregoing document described as SECOND
AMENDED CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDER DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT on each party,
as stated on the attached Service List.

[N (BY E-SERVICE) I personally caused each such document to be served by

CASE ANYWHERE LLC by transmitting a true and correct copy to CASE
ANYWHERE LLC to serve the parties on the attached Service List by email.

Executed on July 13, 2007, at San Diego, California.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the

foregoing is true and correct. . ' D W

_ DENAL. BIELASZ

PROOF OF SERVICE ' T
Case No. SC090343 and Consolidated Actions
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MASTER SERVICE LIST

PLAINTIFF COUNSEL:

David R. Stickney, Esq. Lead Counsel (davids @blbglaw.com)

Brett M. Middieton, Esq- (brettm @blbglaw.com)

Takeo A. Kellar, Esq. (takeok @blbglaw.com)

BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER & GROSSMANN LLP

12481 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300

San Diego, CA 92130

Tel: (858) 793-0070

Fax: (858) 793-0323

Lead Counsel for Co-Lead Plaintiff Amalgamated Bank As Trustee Of The LongView 400 Index
Fund For Retirement Trusts

Eric L. Zagar, Esq. Lead Counsel (ezagar @sbtklaw.com)
Michael J. Hynes, Esq. (mhynes @sbtklaw.com)
James A. Maro, Esq. (jmaro@sbtklaw.com)
SCHIFFRIN BARROWAY TOPAZ
& KESSLER, LLP
280 King of Prussia Road
Radnor, PA 19087
Tel: (610) 667-7706
Fax: (610) 667-7056
-and-
Daniel L. Germain, Esq. (germain@lalawyer. com)
ROSMAN & GERMAIN LLP
815 Moraga Drive
Los Angeles, CA 90049-1633
Tel: (310) 440-8600
Fax: (310) 440-8615
Lead Counsel for Co-Lead Plaintiff Ryan Vazquez

Evan J. Smith, Esq. (esmith@brodsky-smith.com)
BRODSKY & SMITH, LLC

9595 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 900

Los Angeles, CA 90212

Tel: (310) 300-8425

Fax: (310) 247-0160

Counsel for Plaintiff Friederike Greuer

PROOF OF SERVICE -
Case No. SC090343 and Consolidated Actions




= = ¥ S

NN R N RN N N N e
©® 9 A LK VRN = S 0o ®» 9 orE O R DB

DO/00/2007 08:41 FIRST LEGAL SUPFORT FAX (213)250-1187

DEFENSE COUNSEL:

Harriet S . Posner, Esq. Lead Counsel (hposner@skadden.com)

Kristin Henderson, Esq. (krhender@skadden.com)

Carl Roth, Esq.

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400

Los Angeles, CA 90071

Tel: (213) 687-5000

Fax: (213) 687-5600

Counsel for Defendants John T. Baker, IV, Harold A. Brown, William J. Chardavoyne, Ronald
Doornink, Lawrence Goldberg, Kenneth L. Henderson, Barbara S. Isgur, Brian G. Kelly, Robert
A. Kotick, Mitchell A. Lasky, Howard E. Marks, Steven T. Mayer, Robert J. Morgado, Michael J.
Rowe, Richard A. Steele, Kathy Vrabeck, Robert J. Dewar, and Robert J. Corti

Lawrence A. Cox, Esq. (Lawrence_Cox @aporter.com)
Kristen R oberts, Esq. (Kristen_Roberts @aporter.com)
ARNOLD & PORTER LLP

777 South Figueroa Street, 44™ Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90017-5844

Tel.: (213) 243-4022

Fax: (213) 243-4199

Counsel for Defendant Barry J. Plaga

Daniel A. Solitro, Esq. (dsolitro@irell.com)

David A. Schwarz, Esq. (dschwarz@irell.com)
David Siegel, Esq. Lead Counsel (dsiegel @irell.com)
John C. Keith, Esq. (jkeith@irell.com)

IRELL & MANELLA LLP

1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 900

Los Angeles, CA 90067-4276

Tel.: (310) 203-7199

Fax: (310) 203-1010 .

Counsel for Nominal Defendant Activision, Inc.

PROOF OF SERVICE 3.
Case No. SC090343 and Consolidated Actions




